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Tuesday, February 17, 2015

--- Upon commencing at 9:38 a.m.
MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in EB-2014-0116, an application brought by Toronto Hydro-Electric System for a custom incentive rate application. 

     The record in this matter sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place so far in this application.  Today we will commence the oral hearing phase of the proceeding.  

     May I have appearances, please?

     APPEARANCES: 

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, Charles Keizer on behalf of 

Toronto Hydro.  Also with me is Mr. Crawford Smith, who will be appearing as well for Toronto Hydro, and Ms. Daliana Coben, lead regulatory counsel for Toronto Hydro. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

     MR. BRETT:  Madam Chair, good morning.  Panel, good morning.  My name is Tom Brett.  I'm appearing for the Building Owners and Managers Association.  

     MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Brett. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.  With me is Mark Rubenstein, my colleague.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, good morning. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, good morning. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada. 

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Girvan, good morning. 

     MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe.  And I would like to enter an appearance for Dr. Roger Higgin, who will be here Thursday for panel 2. 


MS. LONG:  Mr. Faye, thank you.

     MR. DUMKA:  Good morning.  I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I'm here for the Society of Energy Professionals. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Dumka, thank you. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Good morning.  Stephanie Hobbs here for CUPE Local 1, and with me is Mr. John Camilleri, president.  

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Hobbs, thank you.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is David Crocker.  I'm here for AMPCO, with Shelley Grice. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, good morning.  Thank you.  

     MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Do we have one more appearance?

     MS. McALEER:  Good morning, members of the Panel.  I'm here this morning -- my name is Jennifer McAleer -- on behalf of Rogers Communications Partnership, Allstream Inc. and Cogeco Cable.  We are not parties or intervenors at present, but there is a preliminary matter that we would like to address this morning.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. McAleer. 

     MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Maureen Helt, Counsel with the Board, and with me I have a number of Board Staff, Ted Antonopoulos, Martin Davies, Judith Fernandes, Edik Zwarenstein.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MS. LONG:  There are a number of preliminary matters that I would like to deal with this morning, the first, Mr. Keizer, being -- as I understand from reading some correspondence over the weekend -- that the CEA benchmarking documents have been distributed to those who have filed and signed confidential undertakings.

     MR. KEIZER:  That's my understanding.  We will also have hard copies available for anyone today as well. 

     MS. LONG:  Two hard copies available for the Panel? 

     MR. KEIZER:  We can make them available at the break. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     The second matter that we would like to discuss is the one raised by Ms. McAleer.  We have received correspondence from a number of parties with respect to this issue in the application, and, Ms. McAleer, I understand that you have some comments you would like to make first?  

     MS. McALEER:  Yes, I do, Madam Chair, if this would be an appropriate time. 

     MS. LONG:  This is an appropriate time. 

     MS. McALEER:  Thank you.  As indicated, I am here this morning on behalf of Rogers, Cogeco Cable and Allstream.  I understand that the Panel has been provided previously with correspondence from Rogers, dated February 9th and February 12th.  And I trust the members of the Panel have had the opportunity to review that correspondence, and it is not my intention to repeat all of the contents this morning. 

     In addition, you should have received a letter from Telus, which essentially echoes the position taken by Rogers. 

     In summary, the reason why we are appearing this morning is that it recently came to our attention that this application includes an increase in the wireline pole attachment rate, and Toronto Hydro is proposing that that rate, which is currently at $22.35, increase to $92.53.  And that, members of the Panel, is a 314 percent increase in the rate.  

     Our position is that we have not received sufficient notice of that rate increase or the intention to seek that rate increase, and consequently have not had the opportunity to participate in this process in the last six months and that we are not in a position at this late stage to join the party, so to speak, and to step in and start with cross-examinations.  We're just not in a position to do that. 

     The relief we're seeking this morning is, in the first case, to decline to hear that aspect of the application, so the aspect of the application that seeks an increase in the pole attachment rate.  In the alternative, our position is that that aspect of the relief should be denied.  And in the further alternative, if the first two are not attractive to the Panel and only in a further alternative, we would request an adjournment of that process of the hearing under your discretion under Rule 24.01 to have that part of it carved out.  This process could continue.  You could adjudicate on the other portions of the application, but the parties that I represent and perhaps other carriers and Toronto Hydro could work out a schedule by which we could catch up and have the opportunity to prepare interrogatories, get the responses, and have the normal consultation process, and then at a later date there could be cross-examinations on that evidence.  So as a third alternative, that is what we would be seeking. 

     The grounds, as I have indicated -- the first ground I have already articulated, which is our position is that there was insufficient notice to Rogers, Cogeco, Allstream, and the other carriers.  And our second ground is that this actually is not properly before the Board, that the current application has been framed under section 78(3) of the Act, and properly the application that deals with the wireline pole attachment rate should have come before you under section 74, and if it had, we would have received the notice that we did not, or anticipate that would have happened. 

     So let me address first of all the adequacy of the notice.  As I know the members of this Panel are aware, adequacy of notice is a fundamental procedural fairness issue, and at common law, if there's been inadequate notice, then any decision of the tribunal is void if there hasn't been adequate notice to an interested party. 

     The issue here is really looking at the notice that was provided and deciding whether or not it was sufficient, and I know you have the notice and the affidavit from Toronto Hydro, which attested to the manner in which it was published, but nowhere in the notice is there any reference to the increase in the pole rates. 

     The notice is all about -- or refers only to the electricity distribution rates.  There is no reference in the notice to an increase in pole rates.  

     Clearly, pole attachment rates are not an electricity distribution rate.  And our position is, looking at the face of this document, there simply is no notice that was going to be an issue before you. 

     Intuitively, if the matter that is at issue to these parties and that it was going to have a material impact on them isn't in the notice, then there can't have been proper notice. 

     I have reviewed the correspondence by counsel for Toronto Hydro, and I understand it is their position that the notice is adequate because it was effectively endorsed by the Board. 

     Our position is it doesn't really matter how the notice came to be, whether it was as a result of a direction by the Board or not.  The issue is whether or not the notice is sufficient, and in our view this notice, as I said, isn't sufficient because it doesn't address the material issue. 

     I would mention, members of the Panel, that my understanding is that the increase in pole rates isn't in the executive summary of the application, nor is it in the requested relief summary either. 

     So my position is it should have been in the notice, but even if one goes beyond the notice, it is not in those other two documents either.  

     So I have also had the opportunity to look at the letter from the Board Staff, and in my respectful submission this is not a question where section 24(1) of the specified Statutory Powers Procedure Act is triggered.

This is not an issue where parties are so numerous that it would be impractical to provide notice.  There are only eight carriers; they are known entities.  It has not been an issue in the past to provide them with notice when rates involving poles has been an issue.  And it shouldn't have been impractical in this case.

Turning finally to the jurisdiction point, as I mentioned, this application has opinion framed under section 78(3) of the Act.  That section provides the Board may make orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for distribution -- sorry, for transmission or distribution of electricity or such other activity as may be prescribed. 

     Again, clearly this is not an issue of the transmission or distribution of electricity, nor is it another matter that has been prescribed from our review of the regulations.  

So our position is that this aspect of the application isn't even properly before you, and that it should have come before you as a section 74 application, and there would have been the notice requirements under that section and the carriers would have received notice if it had -- I would anticipate they would have received notice if it had gone by that route. 

     As such, it is not properly before you and you actually do not have the jurisdiction to adjudicate on the increase to the poles rate.  

     Unless you have any questions, members of the Panel, those are my submissions.  I thank you very much for having the opportunity this morning. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Ms. McAleer, I had a question with respect to your third option, the catch-up option, if I can call it that. 

     Are your clients at this point intending on filing evidence?  

     MS. McALEER:  My understanding is that if there is 

sufficient time provided, they would in fact prepare 

interrogatories for Toronto Hydro, and they would expect there to be responses in the normal course.  There potentially would be a technical conference and then there would be intervenor evidence, depending on what the result was of those steps in the proceedings.  

But my understanding is that all three of the 

parties I represent would like the opportunity to look at the costing issues, make some questions to Toronto Hydro, and if necessary produce their own costing evidence.  

     MS. LONG:  So have you had any discussions with Mr. Keizer and his client with respect to whether or not it is possible to undertake all of these steps by the time that we aim to have a Decision out for May 1st?  

     MS. McALEER:  I have not had that opportunity, Madam Chair.  This issue came up at the last moment. 

     MS. LONG:  I realize it is new and fresh. 

     MS. McALEER:  I would welcome the opportunity to have those discussions with Mr. Keizer and Mr. Smith.  I do think that May 1st is optimistic, given the discussions I have had with my clients and what is feasible in the next couple of months.  But certainly we're happy to revisit that and to have those discussions.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  

     MS. McALEER:  Thank you. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may, for clarity purposes, Mr. Smith was the correspondent with respect to the letters relating to Rogers, so he is going to address the issues in respect of Rogers. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Smith?

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the Board.

Obviously I disagree with substantially everything that's been said, with this exception: I won't repeat the correspondence that has been filed. 

     Obviously it is Toronto Hydro's position, as reflected in the letter, that the form of notice that was prescribed by the Board was adequate in the circumstances, and I would adopt the comments reflected in Board Staff's letter. 

     Let me just respond specifically to the items that my friend has raised. 

     The first is with respect to the adequacy of the notice itself.  The form of notice was obviously prescribed by the Board, and refers to electricity distribution rates.  It's quite correct that the wireline attachment rate is not specifically referred to in the notice.  But in my submission that is, A, hardly surprising, or B, not necessary. 

     It is important to step back and just contextualize what we're actually talking about.  What we're talking about is a revenue offset.  So it's an amount that is intended to recover the cost of providing the for-

profit service that telecom communities -- companies are looking for, which is the attachment.  And that amount goes into offsetting distribution rates, just like any other revenue. 

     So it's quite correct that the notice doesn't refer to the wireline attachment rate.  But it also doesn't refer to many, many other components of the revenue requirement. 

     Second, I disagree entirely that this isn't specifically referred to in the application.  

It is not in the executive summary; correct.  The form of the executive summary is also prescribed by the Board, and this is not amongst the items that would be captured in 

any executive summary.

But it is incorrect to say that it's not in the legal application.  The legal application specifically refers to an item 2, specific charges.  Specific charges then cross-references to Exhibit 8. 

     So anybody who was minded to look at the application, who received the application or who looked on Toronto Hydro's website would have seen this.  

     So in my submission, particularly entities like Rogers, very sophisticated regulated entities, I don't think there is any -- could be any serious suggestion that it is not specifically referred to, not just in the application, but also in the form of the legal application itself. 

     With respect to my friend's second submission with respect to section 78 and section 74, this is the first time that that issue has been raised.  You will not see it in either of the Rogers letters.  So I am a little bit surprised by the submission at this stage. 

But let me say that I disagree, in that we're not seeking a licence amendment, which I believe is section 74. 

This is part and parcel, again, back to the notice point of electricity distribution rates, because it is an offset to what the rates would otherwise be. 

     So in my submission it is entirely appropriate that it be captured by section 78.  

So really the sum and substance of the position is we understand that, for whatever reason, Rogers wasn't aware of this or didn't realize that this had been published in the Toronto Star and that they could participate in 

the proceeding.

But at this stage, in my submission, it is not 

appropriate for Rogers, or any party, to come to the proceeding and seek, effectively, relief that a portion of the application be denied -- period, full stop -- that the Board decline to hear the evidence.  And I don't think it is sufficient to say, on the basis of no motion materials, that they're not in a position to participate. 

     I think, in our respectful submission, the Board should stand by its notice process, which has stood it in good stead, and invite Rogers to participate by way of intervenor status and ask questions and give it the opportunity to file argument, should it choose to do so.  

     And let me just respond to the final point, which is 

essentially delaying part of the proceeding.  In my submission that's not appropriate, in that it puts the effective date at risk, and I don't think that that -- from Toronto Hydro's perspective, that that should be appropriate. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, can you confirm for me what the 

incremental amount of revenue offset is?

     MR. SMITH:  $4 million. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  And looking at the hearing plan, it wasn't quite clear to me when this issue is going to be dealt with.  

     MR. SMITH:  Panel 3.  

     MS. LONG:  Panel 3?  

     MR. SMITH:  Which will be next week.  

MS. LONG:  Ms. Helt, were you planning on making any other submissions, other than what we have in writing?  

     MS. HELT:  Just three brief points, then, Madam Chair.

The first is just to note on the record that I do take issue with what my friend has said with respect to section 24(1) of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act. 

     I think it is precisely this type of instance where the tribunal is -- when the tribunal is of the opinion that parties are either numerous or for any other reason, that it's not practical to give notice to each and every participant.  A tribunal, in order to fulfil its regulatory function and to do so efficiently, has to have the discretion as to whether or not a publication form of notice is appropriate. 

     This is particularly that type of case.  So Board Staff does stand by the notice that was given in this proceeding, and in no way finds that the notice, as issued, was anything but sufficient. 

     The second point is just to address the comments by my 

friend with respect to jurisdiction. 

     I, like Mr. Crawford (sic), counsel for Toronto Hydro, agree that this is a matter that falls properly under section 78.  Not having been given notice of this particular -- I'm sorry, Mr. Davies has told me I said Mr. Crawford, and I meant to say Mr. Smith.  I hope I don't continue to do that throughout this proceeding.  My apologies, Mr. Smith.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, people will know that will not be the first time that's happened, and it won't be the last.  

     MS. HELT:  No.  So anyway, my apologies. 

     Then the last point I would like to make is with respect to having this matter heard as part of this proceeding. 

     I don't think it would be appropriate to go with either of the first two options presented by counsel for the carriers. 

     I think that this matter could appropriately be dealt with either at the end of this current hearing plan, or, if it was necessary, although I know it is not the preferred alternative, to have some sort of short adjournment of the particular issue, but so that it could be a matter that is dealt with and finalized by the time a Decision comes out, would be Staff's position with respect to this.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  

     Ms. McAleer, any final comments?  

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I was wondering if I could make some brief submissions on the issue.

     MS. LONG:  Oh.  I didn't realize Schools was taking a position on this, but...

     MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We don't take a position on the notice issue.  But with respect to the relief, I think it is important to recognize -- and Mr. Smith talked about this -- essentially it is a revenue offset of about -- Mr. Smith referenced $4 million that is a subsidy that is the current rate at 22.35.  It is a subsidy paid by ratepayers to telecommunications providers since the rate has not changed since, I believe, 2005 in the CCTA Decision. 

     Not only that, but the structure of Toronto Hydro's application, the setting of the base amount for revenue offsets in 2015 affects the year, all of the other years' adjustments, so it is incredibly important that this issue be dealt with for setting 2015 rates. 

     So a simple granting my friend's relief of striking it out or not hearing this issue would not just affect 2015 rates, but would affect the amount built into Toronto Hydro's proposal through to 2019.  We think that is important. 

     Lastly, just quickly on the 74 versus 78 issue, my recollection of Toronto Hydro's licence references that the wireless attachment rate will be -- I mean wireless attachments -- sorry, wireline attachments will be provided on a non-discriminatory basis to telecommunications providers and cable carriers in the rate set out in the tariff. 

     So there is a non-discriminatory provision that they must attach this in the 74.  But the specific rate is set out in the tariff, and that is why it would be proper, as Toronto Hydro has done in this application, to change that amount by way of a section 78 order.

Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


Anyone else?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, members of the Board, if I may, one final point of clarification. 

     The delta between the existing rate and the proposed rate is the $4 million.  It is the difference between --


MS. LONG:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  -- 2 and 6.


MS. LONG:  Right.

Mr. Brett?  

     MR. BRETT:  Just one comment, brief comment.  

     We would not -- the only point I would address is we would not want to see this hived off, or rather -- yes, hived off into some other proceeding or result in your having to make, effectively, two Decisions in this case. 

     I mean, any kind of a situation where you have another -- you know, a second Decision made after the first Decision, which I guess would be the case if it were in a separate proceeding, is difficult for my clients because my clients have thousands of tenants, and when they get a rate change it is a very big deal to get that rate change pushed through their system. 

     If you get another rate change a month later, it really complicates things.  And they have spoken to me on several occasions about that.

Thanks.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


Ms. McAleer? 

     MS. McALEER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just briefly, I may have misspoke but I did not mean to suggest that there is no reference to the rate increase in the application.  There certainly is a reference to it, but it is buried in the exhibits.  It is not in the notice that was sent out.  So just on that point -- Mr. Smith raised that -- I want to be clear. 

     But our position is that it should not behoove Rogers or the other carriers every time Toronto Hydro brings an application to this Board to read through the entirety of the application to see whether or not it is going to have an impact on them. 

     That would undermine the purpose of the notice requirement.  It is the notice that is supposed to give notice to any party that -- or potential party that might be impacted, and as I've indicated earlier, there is nothing in this notice that speaks to an increase in pole rates, and certainly it should not -- the onus should not be on the carriers to review every application looking to see if there is a potential impact. 

     I understand that from certain parties' positions this is about revenue offset, but this is going to have a material impact on the carriers, and while we haven't had the opportunity to do the interrogatories and to do all of the investigation than what we would have if we'd received the notice, I'm being told that the impact on the carriers far exceeds $4 million, based on the very preliminary numbers that they've run since this issue came to light. 

     Now, I appreciate that is not in evidence before you, but since we are talking about numbers, I think it is important to realize there's going to be a very material impact on these carriers. 

     The important thing also is that there is no prejudice to Toronto Hydro if this aspect of the application is delayed.  The Board has the power to impose these rates retroactively and may do so.  So the fact that if we hive this part off in order to deal with it properly, there's certainly no prejudice to Hydro and there is no prejudice to the ratepayers. 

     But there is going to be a substantial prejudice to my clients and to the other carriers that may take an interest in this if they are forced to proceed with this in the next eight days that have been scheduled for this hearing, and they simply cannot do that. 

     And I would remind the members of the Panel that the test for notice comes from the Supreme Court of Canada, is that the parties have to have an opportunity to materially participate, and there's a reason why this has been scheduled for six months.  It is so that the other parties, who sought intervenor status, had the opportunity to ask their interrogatories, and we have simply not had that. 

     And to suggest that we at this stage simply step up and cross-examine is just not a feasible option for the carriers.

Thank you.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.

Thank you, everyone, for your submissions on that.  The Panel is not going to make a decision right now.  We're going to take this away and decide over the next day or two, and we will get back to everyone on what our decision is. 

     So thank you, Ms. McAleer.  We will be in contact as to how we're going to proceed.  

     The next preliminary issue that we would like to deal with is whether or not any issues have been settled, and I reviewed the letter from Ms. Coben which said that no issues have been settled and that everything will be dealt with by way of oral hearing.  Mr. Keizer, Mr. Smith, can you confirm that?

     MR. KEIZER:  That is correct, Madam Chair. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Which is a perfect segue into the hearing plan, which -- I believe the current estimate is for 11 days, and we have eight days planned for this hearing.  So the Panel would like people to go back and look at their cross-examination estimates and see whether or not those can be revised in any way to fit within the eight days that we have. 

     We remind parties that to the extent that evidence is already on the record, it does not have to be dealt with in cross-examination if there's agreement. 

     So we would ask you to take a look at whether or not you can be efficient in that way, and we will see what falls off the list as people start their cross-examinations.  There may be some room in here that we can reach the eight days, but we just remind parties to cooperate and coordinate to the extent that they can. 

     The next issue is with respect to where we are with the confidentiality documents.  And, Ms. Helt, maybe you can take us through the status of whether there are any outstanding issues. 

     MS. HELT:  Yes, certainly, Madam Chair.  Perhaps Mr. Smith can interject where he sees appropriate.  But my understanding is that there are a few documents that have been filed by Toronto Hydro for which they have requested confidentiality, and I do not believe that a decision has been filed with respect to those documents. 

     They are Exhibit 2B, section 7.9.  A redacted version of this document was filed with the evidence update on February 6th.  The same date, a supplemental response to Undertaking UTJ2.29-CUPE 9, there was also a redacted version of this document filed on February 6th for which Toronto Hydro sought confidentiality. 

     Previously, Toronto Hydro had filed a redacted business plan.  I do not think that there's been any determination yet made with respect to that particular document. 

     Lastly, I understand that there were some PSE studies prepared for other clients that were filed by Toronto Hydro for which confidentiality was sought.  

     PEG also filed its report requesting confidentiality.  So there are -- those documents, I believe, are the outstanding ones.  

     MR. SMITH:  I agree with Ms. Helt's summary.  So the Board has the reference for the final matter.  It in response to BOMA Interrogatory 61, which had sought that Toronto Hydro file studies prepared by two of the authors of the PSE report that had been prepared for other clients, and those have been filed. 

     So there are essentially four matters that remain 

outstanding for the Board's determination.  

     MS. LONG:  Are any parties taking positions objecting to those claims for confidentiality, those four documents that were discussed?  No?  Okay.  Thank you.  

     We will take a look at that and give you our determination. 

     That being said, I don't believe there are any other 

preliminary issues, unless Mr. Smith or Mr. Keizer, you have anything?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Just one.  It's not an issue; it is more just to note.  We received communications from AMPCO and SEC, I think Friday or Thursday, about examination of the author of the Navigant report, which is filed in the proceeding as Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 4.  They asked to examine them today as part of the capital plan. 

     Unfortunately, Toronto Hydro was not able to have Mr. Eugene Shlatz, who is the witness in respect of that report, available today.  Based on scheduling, he would be available next Tuesday.  

We will do what we can to see if we can combine him, if the scheduling permits, with the general plant panel. Otherwise, we may be able to put him on his own, subject to the degree of questions from SEC and AMPCO.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Do I understand, due to witness availability, that the plan is that we're going to hear capital today, and then we will switch over to benchmarking for Thursday/Friday?  

     MR. KEIZER:  I think the objective was to do capital today, capital Thursday, and switch to productivity on Friday.  

     And I think the issue was with Mr. Fenrick's availability this week, who is the witness for productivity.  And then Board Staff's witness with respect to Pacific Economics Group would be on Monday.  

     MS. LONG:  I have nine hours and 25 minutes for 

productivity.  Maybe that is an old estimate, but I don't know how we're going to do that in one day. 

     MR. KEIZER:  We weren't sure as to what the estimate 

actually was for -- we didn't see a revised schedule, so we 

weren't aware of whether it had changed or not changed. 

     If need be, we can have some discussions at the break. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes, I think you should have some discussions at the break, and see whether or not it is not better to put your witness up for Thursday/Friday, so we don't run out of time if he is only available this week. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

Then if we are finished with the preliminary matters, Mr. Keizer and Mr. Smith, could you introduce your first panel to us?  And we will have them affirmed. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be taking the first panel with respect to capital, if I could ask the witnesses to come forward.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with your consent, I will absent myself until Thursday. 

     MS. LONG:  That's fine.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MS. McALEER:  Madam Chair, we will take our opportunity to take our leave at this point as well.  Thank you very much.

     MS. LONG:  Thank you for your submissions this 

morning.  

[Mr. Shepherd and Ms. McAleer depart hearing room.]  

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I can, and I will introduce the witnesses and then ask them to be sworn.  It is a large panel and -- 

     MS. LONG:  I see that. 

     MR. KEIZER:  If we did have Navigant here today, we would have to build a mezzanine or gallery, I believe. 

     If I could start at the panel -– sorry, the witness furthest from the Panel, Mr. Elias Lyberogiannis.  Next to Mr. Lyberogiannis is Mr. Jack Simpson.  Next to Mr. Simpson is Angela Rouse.  Next to Ms. Rouse is Mike Walker.  Next to Mr. Walker is Guillaume Paradis.  And finally at the end of the panel is Mr. Robert Otal. 

     If I could ask for the witnesses to be sworn or affirmed?  

     MS. SPOEL:  We will do this as a group and save a bit of time.


TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 1


Elias Lyberogiannis, Affirmed

Jack Simpson, Affirmed

Angela Rouse, Affirmed

Mike Walker, Affirmed

Guillaume Paradis, Affirmed

Robert Otal, Affirmed
     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. KEIZER:

     MR. KEIZER:  I just have some brief direct examination.  If I could start with you, Mr. Lyberogiannis, you are manager of long-term strategy and planning; is that 

correct?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Could you just very briefly describe the scope of your responsibilities at Toronto Hydro?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly.  My responsibilities  are in three main areas.  Those three areas are the 

maintenance planning for the company, the records management, and the long-term planning pieces.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Simpson, you are director, generation capacity -- sorry, director, generation and capacity planning; is that correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Could you also briefly describe the scope of your responsibilities with Toronto Hydro? 

     MR. SIMPSON:  My responsibilities are primarily at the 

stations and the transmission supply to Toronto, and also 

include the generation interconnections. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Ms. Rouse, you are supervisor, capital 

planning and reporting; is that correct?  

     MS. ROUSE:  That's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And could you also describe the scope of your responsibilities?

     MS. ROUSE:  My responsibilities include capital planning, compliance reporting and centralized capital management reporting.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Walker, you are general manager, engineering and investment planning; is that correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe the scope of your responsibilities?

     MR. WALKER:  My responsibilities cover all of capital and maintenance planning, stations capacity, standards and policy, and that's pretty much it.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Paradis, you are manager, system planning; correct?  

     MR. PARADIS:  That's correct. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe the scope of your 

responsibilities?  

     MR. PARADIS:  Yes.  My responsibilities include the planning of investments for the distribution systems -- that would be excluding station assets -- along with reliability planning and power quality.  

     MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Otal, you are supervisor, strategic analytics; is that correct?  

     MR. OTAL:  That is correct. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe the scope of your responsibilities?

     MR. OTAL:  So I look after the decision support systems that are used and feed into our asset management planning process.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Now, you're all aware, I think, and familiar with an exhibit that was filed in this proceeding, which is Exhibit OH, tab 1, schedule 1.  

For the assistance of the Panel, that is an oral hearing witness panel list, and with that it identifies the names of the witnesses, the corresponding evidence that was 

prefiled, issues, and also interrogatories and undertakings.  That now appears on your screen. 

     If I could ask the panel in particular that, for purposes of this proceeding, do you adopt as your evidence those exhibits that have been updated as well as originally filed interrogatories and technical conference undertakings that were set out in Exhibit OH, tab 1, schedule 1, as well as the responses given by you at the technical conference which was held earlier in this proceeding?  

If I could start with Mr. Lyberogiannis 

first. 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Keizer, I do adopt those. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, adopted. 

     MS. ROUSE:  Yes, I adopt those. 

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, I adopt them. 

     MR. PARADIS:  Yes, I adopt them. 

     MR. OTAL:  Yes, I do adopt these. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, panel.


Madam Chair, those are my questions in direct.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  

     Ms. Hobbs, do I understand that you are starting?  

     MS. HOBBS:  I am waiting for my microphone.  Is it on?

     MS. LONG:  I can hear you. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HOBBS:

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So just to start off, we had written last week indicating that we planned on, I think we said, 30 minutes for panel 1.  And I can advise that we've taken the Panel's request this morning that we think about paring down our questions to the extent possible and we have done so.  I expect we will be -- you know, I have been wrong about this in the past, but I expect that we will be somewhere under 30 minutes.  

     MS. LONG:  That's fine.  And I want to be clear we don't want people not to ask --


MS. HOBBS:  Certainly.


MS. LONG:  -- questions to the extent they have questions.  We want you to canvass the evidence, but we want you to be efficient in doing so. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Thank you.


So CUPE's first questions for panel 1 and in fact all of our questions, subject to any last minute additions for panel 1, have to do with, generally, Issues 3.1 with respect to the planned OM&A programs and expenditures, the appropriateness of those, and 3.2, the distribution system plan and whether the DSP and the planned capital programs and expenditures for the 2015-2019 period are appropriate.  

     And in particular, we're focusing in this cross-examination on the issue of externally-contracted services, which obviously represent a significant portion of the spend provided for the relevant period.  This issue has been obviously canvassed extensively by CUPE in its interrogatories up to this point.


So the first main issue we wanted to look at and ask questions of the panel with respect to is the fact that there are numerous references to health and safety and the health and safety aspect of using external contractors, and this is the case in the evidence filed by the applicant, and this is dealt with, as I said, in the interrogatories, the responses to the interrogatories, and in various undertakings on this issue. 

     For example, with respect to 2B, CUPE 2(c):

"... the utilization of design and construction contractor services enables the utility to complete the requisite volume of capital work in a safe and efficient manner..."

With respect to Undertaking J2.29, CUPE 7, part 2, the response there is that one of the selection criteria for contractors is environment, health and safety. 

     So in all of that context, our first question is:  How does the health and safety record of contractors compare to that of Toronto Hydro employees?  

     MR. WALKER:  I am not aware of the specific health and safety record of our contractors.  

     MS. HOBBS:  So is that because Toronto Hydro doesn't track that information?  

     MR. WALKER:  I'm not sure whether we would track it or not, but we expect the contractors to be responsible for their own health and safety.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Well, just as a follow-up with respect to your question as to whether -- or your uncertainty, I guess, with respect to whether the data is tracked, I guess I'm -- what CUPE 1 is interested in particularly is whether, in fact, this data is available to Toronto Hydro, if you don't have it at your fingertips.  Would that turn up, would you think, in the audits which are done on contracts?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  The contractors have to go through WSIB certification, and that's a requirement for them to be contractors with us.  I'm not sure of the frequency.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Well, irrespective of the requirement to comply with WSIB and that whole regulatory process associated with WSIB, with respect to the actual incidents or frequency of accidents, would you track -- you wouldn't track that information?  Toronto Hydro wouldn't -- critical incidents, injuries?  

     MR. WALKER:  I am not sure, to be honest. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Is that something you could look into?  

     MR. WALKER:  Certainly.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So I'm wondering is that an undertaking?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Well -- 

     MS. LONG:  Is there a specific question that you have? 

     MS. HOBBS:  Well, my specific question is:  Could you please look into the issue of whether or not Toronto Hydro tracks that information with respect to critical accidents, injuries, workplace health and safety issues for externally-contracted services with respect to the contractors that have been identified in the evidence?  

     MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  

     MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.1. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO CONFIM WHETHER OR NOT TORONTO HYDRO TRACKS INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO CRITICAL ACCIDENTS, INJURIES, WORKPLACE HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES FOR EXTERNALLY-CONTRACTED SERVICES WITH RESPECT TO CONTRACTORS IDENTIFIED IN THE EVIDENCE.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Thank you.


And this is a follow-up to this issue generally, but wouldn't it be fair to say -- and you said you're not sure if you track it, but wouldn't it be fair to say that certainly with respect to the efficacy of work being done by external contractors, you know, leaving aside the issue of health and safety for its own sake, but wouldn't it be fair to say that there is likely an efficiency, an efficacy aspect to health and safety issues with respect to the -- those externally-contracted services?  

     MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, I don't think I understand your question.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Well, my question is this:  Wouldn't you think that -- wouldn't it seem to be obvious -- it does seem to be obvious to CUPE Local 1 that with respect to issues of efficiency and efficacy of externally-contracted work, that there is -- that it would be worth tracking health and safety issues, critical accidents, et cetera.  

     I mean, clearly there would be some sort of a relationship, one would think, between accidents at work and the need -- and the ability of Toronto Hydro to meet deadlines and the contractor to meet deadlines and so on and so forth with respect to projects. 

     MR. KEIZER:  I guess my friend is asking for a policy position from Toronto Hydro on whether -- I'm not quite sure I understand the question either.  If she is asking for -- is this a policy that Toronto Hydro should adopt, or whether or not health and safety affects efficiency.  I'm not quite sure. 

     If it is the former, I don't necessarily think it is for this panel to develop Toronto Hydro policy when they have already indicated they're not sure of whether the numbers are tracked or not.  

     MS. HOBBS:  I guess I will streamline that and I will clarify.  I am asking more about the former.  Does the panel see a relationship between health and safety and the efficiency of externally-contracted work?  

     MR. WALKER:  The way that our contractors are paid for the work they do is on a unit-of-work basis.  So from an efficiency perspective, when they complete the work, they get paid regardless of their own effort to complete that work. 

     So that is -- you know, there is no need to be concerned about the efficiency from that perspective.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     Turning to Undertaking J2.29, CUPE 9, part 1, I am quoting here:

"As the contracts for the 2015-2018 period have not been finalized, Toronto Hydro is not in a position to provide the requested information..."

The information at issue was annual price increases for external contracts for 2015 to 2018.

"However, Toronto Hydro undertakes to file this information on a confidential basis following the execution of contracts in early 2015."

     So I guess my question is -- the increases that were provided in the supplemental response at J2.29, CUPE 9 are for the period 2015 through 2017.  And my question is:  Are there no increases for 2018?  


[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALKER:  I believe that's better answered by panel 3, I think it is.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Are you in a position to answer with respect to what the status of those new contracts are?  Or is that something that would be a panel 3 issue as well?  

     MR. KEIZER:  I think that would be panel 3 as well, because it does deal with procurement issues with respect to that panel.  

     MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Keizer.  When you say panel 3, can you tell me the topic of panel 3? 

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, yes.  It's general plant capital and OM&A revenue offsets. 

     MS. LONG:  I have that as panel 4, so maybe I am working from an old version. 

     So under general plant, you would be able to discuss that?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Mm-hmm.  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am assuming 

probably that when you say 3, you're probably thinking of the Board Staff witness for benchmarking?  

     MS. LONG:  That's what I have for panel 3.  I was thinking he might not be able to answer those questions, so --

     MR. KEIZER:  You never know.  

     MS. HOBBS:  I am just going to seek instructions quickly.  

     MS. LONG:  Yes, that's fine.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  CUPE 1 has a number of questions about those contracts, which we will kick out to panel 3, then.  

     So moving on to Undertaking J2.29, CUPE 14 and 15,  

we've been provided with breakdowns of the 2011 through 

2015 OM&A and CAPEX costs for external contractors.  

     We wondered if you could help us with some breaking down some of the categories that appear in the charts. 

     The first chart I wanted to take you to is J2.29, CUPE 14; that's the annual external contract services OM&A costs.  

     Are you there?  Yes?  We're all there.  Okay.  

     So the first question I have is with respect to the category of temporary staff.  I'm wondering if you could tell us what work is done by temporary staff.  What sort of work does that entail?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. WALKER:  I believe the temporary staff costs are related to -- it could be some of the support staff that are doing some of our engineering studies that are on payroll contracts.  So there would be a portion of their costs that would be OM&A. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay. 

     MR. WALKER:  There may also be some other temporary staff in IT, where they're working on maintaining systems; that would be my belief.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  What about work done in the "Maintenance contracts" category?  What is that work?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That work would predominantly be work associated with our distribution lines and the inspections of those lines.  It would probably also include pole testing work. 

     There may also be some inspection work associated with our facilities.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Can you give some examples of the type of work that would be -- that would fall under the "Facilities" category?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That may be a question better suited for panel 3.  There's one individual there that can speak to OM&A associated with that.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  My next question is with respect to 

administrative fees and purchased services.  What do administrative fees cover?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure what that specifically represents.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Could you find out?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  And connected to that --

     MS. HELT:  Would you like an undertaking for that? 

     MS. HOBBS:  Yes.  Sorry, I just wanted to add another part to that. 

     MS. HELT:  By all means, go ahead. 

     MS. HOBBS:  So connected to that, we would also like to know roughly how much -- just a further breakdown to show not just what the administrative fees cover, but also how much they are annually.  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, certainly. 

     MS. HELT:  Okay.  Undertaking J1.2, to provide a 

description of what the administrative fees are, and a breakdown of those particular fees. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE FEES, A BREAKDOWN OF THEIR ANNUAL AMOUNTS, AND TO CONFIRM THE TYPE OF WORK THEY RELATE TO.

     MS. HOBBS:  Do you have a sense of what work is done in the "Administrative fees and purchased services" category, what sort of work that represents?  

     MR. WALKER:  I would rather not speculate.  I'm just not sure.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Is that a question that is better suited to another panel, or can you find out?  

     MR. KEIZER:  We could add it to the existing undertaking. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. HELT:  So that will then be added to Undertaking J1.2, to find out what kind of work the administrative fees relates to.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So we have a series of questions related to the following table on Undertaking J2.29, CUPE 15, which is the annual external contract services CAPEX costs.  

     And the questions, once again, are -- I am going to be asking you to break out -- again, in the same way I just asked you -- what each of these categories is about and which work is done in each category. 

     Once again, is this something that you're in a position to answer?  Are you able to provide more detailed information about each of the categories listed there in the table on the left-hand side?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, I can certainly speak to the design and construction portion of it.  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. WALKER:  But for the other ones, I wouldn't be able to speak to it here. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask you about the design and construction portion, and then I will ask for undertakings with respect to the rest.  

But can you first provide that information about what is covered under the "Design and construction contractors" category?

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  This would relate to the capital work that's carried out by our external contractors.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So with respect to the "Administrative fees and purchased services" category, once again I would like an undertaking with respect to what administrative fees cover in this table and roughly how much they are annually or how much they are annually, if you could provide specific detail on that. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer, is this a question that can be answered by another panel, or is this something that needs to be done by way of undertaking?  I would like to not have so many undertakings, because it is difficult for the Panel. 

     MR. KEIZER:  What we can do is, one, take it by way of undertaking, but as part of the undertaking clarify as to whether another panel could answer the question. 

     If so, then we will advise CUPE with respect to that so they have sufficient time to prepare their question and put it to that panel. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  That would be preferable.  Thank you.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Thank you.  

     MS. HELT:  Thank you.  That will then be Undertaking J1.3.  And just for clarity for the record, we're referring to technical conference schedule J2.29, CUPE 15.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  WITH RESPECT TO THE 'ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND PURCHASED SERVICES' CATEGORY, TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE FEES, A ROUGH BREAKDOWN OF THEIR AMOUNTS, AND TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES AND AN EXPLANATION OF WHAT THE 'PURCHASED SERVICES' CATEGORY INVOLVES AND WHAT KIND OF WORK IS DONE UNDER THAT CATEGORY, INCLUDING TEMPORARY STAFF.

     MS. HOBBS:  So I would also as part of -- I don't know if it will be part of the same undertaking or if we need two separate ones with a further clarification as to which is the appropriate panel to ask these to.  

     I would also like some examples and an explanation of what the "Purchased services" category involves, what kind of work is done under that category.  

     MR. KEIZER:  We will have it fall under the same undertaking. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  And then temporary staff as well in that case.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes, as well.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Thank you.  

     MS. HELT:  That will all then be part of J1.3. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, we will do our best to try to clarify at the break as to whether there is a more appropriate panel for this to be addressed to. 


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

     MS. HOBBS:  As I said, we're going to be fairly brief today.  I have one concluding question with respect to externally-contracted services. 

     Obviously, there's been a -- there have been massive increases in the total contracted work in both CAPEX and OM&A over the relevant period.  And I guess the specific question in either scenario -- two scenarios in which there would be former Toronto Hydro employees performing work that's been externally contracted, one where an individual is contracted directly following the severance of their employment or, two, where an individual is employed under a third-party contract. 

     What, if you can tell us, are Toronto Hydro's policies regarding any wait period for former employees before they're allowed to be engaged by contractors or performing contracted work for Toronto Hydro?  

     MR. KEIZER:  I'm not quite sure what the relevance of the question is.  I mean...

     MS. HOBBS:  There's absolutely relevance.  As I said, there have been massive increases to the total contracted work in both CAPEX and OM&A, and this goes to Toronto Hydro's policies with respect to if and when they contract that work out and the efficiency and the efficacy of that work being contracted out.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Oh, I understand the general nature of whether -- in order to accommodate the capital plan is done by way of contracting out or using internal employees.  I am just not sure I understand how that relates to how quickly you can hire or not hire an employee or a former employee as part of a contractual arrangement. 

     I am not quite sure how that ties into the overall capital plan and the nature of it.  

     MS. HOBBS:  I mean, I think it is obvious on its face that it is relevant, and I don't see the harm in indicating whether or not you've got a policy in that respect.  

     MR. WALKER:  I'm not really the right person to ask about the policy.  I think that would be -- 

     MS. HOBBS:  A panel 4 question?  

     MR. WALKER:  Human resources, finance and customer care panel.  I'm not sure which panel that is now. 


MS. HOBBS:  Certainly.

     MR. KEIZER:  We have that as panel 4.  It will be your panel 5.  We will get the numbers correct. 

     MS. LONG:  I think the confusion is that I am now working from your sheet here. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Okay. 

     MS. LONG:  But I don't have time estimates for panels.  My old one does, so I prefer that one.  But I will work with yours, Mr. Keizer.  And we will refer to panels as you stated them.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  So I think Ms. Powell, who is part of that panel, who is director of HR, can answer that question.  

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Hobbs, you will have to wait until then.  Is that okay?

     MS. HOBBS:  That's fine.  We don't have any more questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  I understand that AMPCO is next, but I think it might make sense for us to take our morning break and come back at 11:05 and start then.  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 10:44 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:07 a.m. 

     MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Crocker, we need to break at 12:25 today. 

     MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry?

     MS. LONG:  We need to break today at 12:25 for lunch, just so you can plan your cross accordingly. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Panel, we have prepared a compendium, which I think should be marked as an exhibit.  I think it has been distributed.  

     MS. LONG:  It has?  

     MS. HELT:  Yes.  We will mark that as Exhibit K1.1, the compendium of documents of AMPCO.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may, just in respect of the compendium at the outset, Toronto Hydro received AMPCO's compendium, which is a series of three tables that was prepared and received at about 10:45 p.m. last night. 

     So the witnesses themselves have not had a chance to review it in detail.  To the extent that they have, they have determined there are some errors in it.

But if my friend is going to cross-examine on it, I think it would be preferred -- and it would be certainly better for the witnesses -- if they had a longer 

period of time in which to review and consider the table. 

     I recognize that some of the data that comes from this is from our prefiled evidence, but it was a table that is not a prefiled table.  It is simply data that was populated in a table created by AMPCO, as far as I understand, at least the first table that was there. 

     So I raise that as a concern with respect to the use of the compendium with respect to this panel.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I don't want to comment on what 

Toronto Hydro people do overnight, but --

     MS. LONG:  Did they get this at 10:45 last night?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes, they got it late.  However, the table to which Mr. Keizer refers is basically taken from, as he has indicated, prefiled evidence that we're going to be referring to. 

     I mean, none of this is particularly new.  We added -- we have added a piece to it of our own, going forward.  But it is not novel or anything that, I don't think, is controversial. 

     What I would propose is to cross-examine on the table, and if the witnesses have difficulty with giving the answers, then we will determine whether they want to do it by way of undertaking, they want to consider it over the lunch break, they want more time than that. 

     I don't think anything I will be asking with respect to -- particularly to the first table, is very complicated.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, I haven't seen it because I just got the compendium.  So I can't really comment on it.  

That being said, I would remind parties that the 24-hour rule is in place for a reason, so that we don't spend time with people looking at documents for the first time on the stand; it is not an efficient use of our time. 

I appreciate people that were preparing over the 

weekend and there was a holiday.  But on a go-forward basis, we do want things filed at least 24 hours in advance, and that does not mean overnight so people are up all night reviewing it.  It actually means a meaningful 24 hours. 

     MR. CROCKER:  I understand. 

     MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Crocker, you can start.  I would suggest maybe you want to give the witnesses over lunch to review it.  If that is not enough time for them to review it, then we will deal with it then. 

     But it is up to you, if you want to start and see how things go.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Let's be clear, Madam Chair.  If there are questions that relate to the table and the witnesses are uncertain with respect to the correctness of the number, or the means by which it is calculated, they can obviously state that. 

     I mean, the table itself, there is calculations of averages and also certain annotations on the table which do not appear in the prefiled evidence, and those are AMPCO's calculations. 

     MS. LONG:  Of course, Mr. Keizer.  And witnesses, if you are reviewing a document and you are not clear about where numbers came from, or you disagree with them, this Panel does expect that you would raise that for us, and we will deal with it.  

Is that sufficient, Mr. Keizer, to address your concerns?

     MR. KEIZER:  I think it will have to be, yes, at this stage. 

     MS. LONG:  Well, let's see how this goes.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CROCKER:

     MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Let's start at the beginning of the compendium and let's work our way through.  

     For any of you who don't know, my name is David Crocker and, with Shelley Grice, we represent AMPCO. 

     Other than on rare occasions, I am just going to be asking my questions and not directing them to any one of you in particular, and I invite whomever is comfortable answering to go ahead and provide that answer.  

     So on the basis of what you have on this page -- just by general introduction, this is a custom incentive rate 

application.  It covers the years, the five years between 

2015 and 2019.  You agree with me, I hope?  

     The transcript, the reporter can't pick up nods, so one of you will have to say yes. 

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  You have indicated at 4.1.1 that the nature and amount of capital spending in this application builds on the foundation that the OEB accepted in the 2012-2014 ICM application.  The majority of the capital programs are continuations of the work programs the OEB approved in the ICM application. 

     I would suggest to you that about 85 percent of those 

capital programs are continuations of the work programs that were begun during the ICM period.  Does that coincide with what you people think is the case?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You are, as you've indicated at line 13, requesting capital expenditures for the period 2015 to 2019 of approximately $500 million a year; correct?  Do you agree?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And as you indicate at line 23 it's an 

increase of approximately $152.3 million or 40.2 percent; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  If we go over to page 3, you indicate, starting at line 4, that you've got a large and growing backlog of assets operating beyond their expected useful lives, and you estimate that at approximately 26 percent.  And that's the 26 percent in the pie chart that you have there; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you indicate once again -- and I am sorry for having to repeat this, but I want to set things up for questions I am going to follow with.  

     There are a number of different approaches that you describe in here as to how to address that, and one of them, as you indicate at line 13, is "run to failure".  And you indicate that if you were to take that approach, that the 26 percent would increase to 32 percent; is that right?  Am I understanding what you're saying?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  And reliability will likely deteriorate?  

     MR. WALKER:  Correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  If you go over the page again, you describe on this page three investment strategies, I suggest to you.  Is that a fair characterization of what you've done here?  

     MR. WALKER:  They're three different kinds of investments that we're considering in our capital investment approach.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The first, if I could just characterize it this way, would be the economically optimal one, the one that would address the most problems the quickest; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Then the second one is sort of an intermediate approach that is -- if I could call it accelerated.  Don't do quite as much, but still more than you ultimately end up doing?  Or proposing to do? 

     MR. WALKER:  I think the way I would characterize them is the first one addresses the backlog in one year. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay. 

     MR. WALKER:  The second one addresses the backlog over the five years of the DSP filing period, just for clarity.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Your objective of -- in all of this is to achieve a steady state, as you indicate starting at line 17, for -- at year -- I can't remember the year.  2032, I believe? 

     MR. WALKER:  I think it is 2037, we say, approximately.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And what do you mean by "steady state"?  

     MR. WALKER:  The steady state theoretically is the point at which all assets are replaced at their optimal intervention time, as we describe in several places in the evidence, the point at which the annualized cost of the asset and the annualized risk of that asset are at their lowest mathematically added point. 

     But that's the more theoretical steady state.  Basically, in the steady state, if you want to think of it this way, it's when all of the backlog is taken care of, so that for the most part our assets are operating within their useful lives.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And in the course of this I will get to questions I want to ask you about the way you determine how to address the different assets to get to the steady state. 

     But before I do that, you indicate at the bottom of that page, page 4, that the backlog is approximately, in terms of dollars, $2.56 billion, which, if you chose the first approach, would all be spent in 2015, and then a billion 55 between 2016 and 2019; correct?

That's what -- that's what the economically optimal approach would cause in terms of spending?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Over the period of time, just adding those two numbers together, you would be spending $4.11 billion?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And that can be seen in the chart on page 5?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  As you say at line 6 on that page, that would be an exceptional expenditure over the period and a rate increase that you would not be comfortable with.  And I believe you also would not be physically or economic -- physically capable of doing all of that work in that period? 


[Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  The way I would categorize that is that this would be optimal for the purposes of our customer.  It's not a question of us being comfortable; it's how it relates to our customer.

But in principle we recognize it's impractical, from an operational and a rate-setting perspective, to do that much investment in one year.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The second approach you describe at page 6, and I'm not going to go into it particularly, because that is not the subject of this application, but the second approach you describe on page 6 in the chart you have there, the total expense, if you were to proceed that way, would be $4.17 billion spread over the years, as you have described them there.  That's correct, isn't it?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And at page 7 we start with a discussion of what in fact you are proposing, as I understand it, in this application for the Board to approve.  That's correct, isn't it?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And as you've indicated, and as I already questioned, you indicate at line 6:

"The execution of the capital expenditure plan as per this strategy results in the predictable rates over the five-year DSP term due to the paced nature of the investment and will ultimately allow for steady state in 2037."


Correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  What do you mean by "paced"?

     MR. WALKER:  That's how we're defining this particular scenario.  Rather than addressing the backlog of assets rapidly in a large expenditure, we're spreading that backlog expenditure over a number of years in a more paced approach.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  As I add your spending for this paced approach up, it's between the years -- or over the years 2015 to 2019 your spending would be $2.49 billion?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  That appears correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And do you have projections beyond that for the next period of time?  So between -- to get from 20 -- to get to 2037, your steady state year, do you have projections for your spending between 2020 and 2037?  

     MR. WALKER:  No.  We have not projected out specific spending beyond the five-year term of the CIR.  However, we would expect the expenditures to be comparable to what's in the paced approach.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just so that I understand that, so that you think it would be necessary for you to spend at the same pace for the next -- for the following 17 years?  

     MR. WALKER:  Again, we haven't planned that out.  It would depend on a number of different circumstances that will arise in the future: the performance of our assets, external demands, growth rate of load in the city, and so on.  So it's really just directional, is the way I would describe it. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But just so that I understand what you said in answer to the previous question before you qualified it here, that you would expect the same kind of pace, subject to the qualifications that you just gave -- that is, $500 million a year?  

     MR. WALKER:  In terms of the dealing with the backlog of assets, the paced approach, if you like, spreads those costs out over those numbers of years. 

     So that portion of the cost in that scenario, if we were to carry forward with that scenario, would be roughly comparable, the asset renewal cost.  The other costs that make up our capital expenditure would depend on circumstances at the time.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we flip over then, please, to page 8 of the compendium?  

This is your table, and the next -- a little bit later, we built on this table, but I just want to understand the significance of this table.  

     Along the left-hand -- in the left-hand column, you've 

indicated a number of different capital projects where asset replacement will be taking place.  That's correct, isn't it?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. WALKER:  This table does call these "projects," but I think they're really programs in the way we file a DSP, just for clarity. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And just so that I understand again, is the Board -- are you asking -- is Toronto Hydro asking the Board to approve the programs and the program spending that you have set out here for the test year, 2015, and then the next four years after that, 2016 to 2019?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  It would be the revenue requirement 

related to that specifically, but that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I think you have answered this, but I just want to make sure.  These programs, as set out here at these costs, is what you are seeking approval of each individual program at the individual cost set out in this table?

     MR. KEIZER:  This may be a better question for the revenue requirement and regulatory panel that comes at the end of the proceeding, which actually deals with the whole -- what the approvals are and various things.  

This panel, I think, can talk to the programs and the nature of the programs, why the costs are what they are and those things. 

     But the actual nature of the approvals and how they fit into the CIR, custom incentive rate mechanism that is actually being sought, I think the latter panel with respect to revenue requirement and rates and regulatory may be the better panel for the question.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  I will take my friend's advice.  I wasn't intending to be here for that panel, but we will see what we can do. 

     MS. LONG:  You may want to rephrase your questions so 

they're more related to actual capital costs.  This panel, I'm sure, can answer the questions related to those specific topics. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Well, I will see if I can get to it a different way as we go on.  If I have to come back and ask the other panel, I will.  

     I'm going to, as we go on in this, ask you some questions about the significance of historical numbers and how you use history in terms of going forward. 

     And to that end, I want to ask you some questions about your -- the bridge year, 2014.  

     As I understand it, the numbers that you have provided in that column are numbers up to June of 2014; is that correct?  

     MS. ROUSE:  The 2014 bridge year, as presented in this table, represents our original filing, and then has an update for -- with respect to the Copeland project.  

     MR. CROCKER:  But only up to June?  

     MS. ROUSE:  Sorry, it was based on the original evidence filed.  We can tell you that our actual capital spending or preliminary results are coming in within 1 percent of that forecast presented here.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just for certain Neanderthals like me, is Copeland Bremner?  I mean, do I understand -- do I recognize Copeland as being Bremner?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we flip over to page 9, please?

Now, this is one of the tables that we provided at 11:45 last night.  If there are difficulties with this, I understand it.  I can certainly come back to it later on, but let's see how far we can go and whether we do have difficulties. 

     These are historical numbers.  They're not, for the most part, not numbers we made up or calculated.  They're historical numbers, and they come from BOMA interrogatories, as indicated in the top left-hand piece of this, BOMA Interrogatory 8.  

     Okay.  Let's start in 2010.  In 2010, you were approved for $350 million and you actually spent $400.6 million.  Do you take issue with that?  

     MS. ROUSE:  We have not had a chance to check your 

Board-approved amounts for 2008 to 2011, or the historical actuals of 2006 to 2009.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn up BOMA 

Interrogatory 8?  I think the numbers are there.  

     MS. ROUSE:  I'm sorry, I'm still not seeing the reference to the 2010 Board-approved amount there.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I don't know.  Was there another page of this?  

All right.  I see what you're suggesting.  The spend is there, but the Board-approved numbers aren't; correct? 

     MS. ROUSE:  Correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:   Okay.  Subject to your checking, then,  going back and checking, if our numbers for 2010 are correct -- that is, you were approved for 350 million and your actual spend was 400.6, to say the obvious, and this is about the limit of my arithmetic -- you spent $50.6 million over what you were approved.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, I don't want Ms. Rouse to go on answering questions if she is not sure that this is actually the Board-approved amount.  And it may be, but she just hasn't had the opportunity to check it. 

     So I think that in fairness to the witness, she should be allowed to confirm this before you put a lot of questions to her about what or what did not happen.  So I think you should come back.  

     MR. CROCKER:  We will come back to it.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Can we also ask about going back and checking -- I mean, these numbers are numbers that are put forward by AMPCO.  If they have come from someplace, it would be helpful if AMPCO could advise as to where the source of the number comes from as well. 

     I just don't want us to go back and check and then suddenly, you know, are we checking two different sources, two different places?  I just want to make --

     MR. CROCKER:  We will do it over the lunch break. 

     MR. KEIZER:  It is not our compendium, in other words, and it's not part of what our evidence is; it's his numbers. 

     MS. LONG:  You will have some time at the lunch break.  And perhaps Ms. Grice can confer with Mr. Keizer and discuss where those numbers have come from so the parties can check and we can move on.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's go forward, then, to page 11.

Now, this is a table that AMPCO prepared.  However, the part of the table -- two-thirds of the table to the left-hand side of the page is taken from that green page, which is page 8, your numbers from page 8.  

     The averages, the one, two, three, four, five, six columns to the right, were -- were calculated by AMPCO.  So let's see how far we can go with this before you become uncomfortable.  

     Where we have checkmarks on the left-hand side of this, beside the project you have described, such as customer connections, we're suggesting -- and once again, I don't think this is anything controversial -- that you are proposing spending which is an increase over the spending which was approved as part of your ICM approval over the past five years.  

     Can you go down that list and confirm that we're right, please?  Rather than me asking you each one...

     MR. KEIZER:  Right now?  I mean, there's a lot of checkmarks, and I think it would be unfair to ask the witness to sit here and decide -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I'm surprised that -- I'm happy once again to wait, and we can do it later.  But I am surprised that the Toronto Hydro people who prepared this wouldn't know.  I mean, we're just -- 

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, the checkmarks aren't Toronto Hydro's checkmarks, as I understand it.  Those are AMPCO's. 


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah, I know, but the --

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, are you asking the witnesses to take a look at this chart and look at the variance percentage at the right-hand column and agree with the orange numbers?  Is that what you're asking?  You're asking them to confirm that?  

     MR. CROCKER:  I'm asking them -- I don't need for them to confirm the amounts, merely that the proposed spending is an increase over what had been approved.  That's all. 

     MS. LONG:  You're asking them generally if it's been an increase, or you're asking them -- for example, in customer connections -- if it's a 43 percent --


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, in the --


MS. LONG:  -- increase based on these --


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, confirm that --


MS. LONG:  -- numbers, because that is a different question.

     MR. CROCKER:  To confirm that there has been an increase, yes, for each of them.  

     MS. LONG:  Again, my question to you, Mr. Crocker, is:  Are you asking them directionally whether or not there has been an increase?  Or are you asking them to confirm the amount of the increase?  Because I expect --


MR. CROCKER:  No, just --


MS. LONG:  -- they might be able to answer your question directionally now, but I don't -- I think what Mr. Keizer is saying is that they're not able to confirm the amount. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  No, I understand that.  And that is why I am asking them directionally now whether they agree with me or they agree with AMPCO that these are all projects where they're asking for increased spending.  Directionally. 

     MS. LONG:  Witnesses, are you able to answer that question?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess -- sorry, maybe I don't understand Mr. Crocker's question initially.  Is his question to say that for every one of these things where there is a checkmark, he wants the witness now to go through, do a line comparison, and determine whether or not there is an increase or decrease or whatever relative to what?  Relative to -- I'm not sure what it is relative to. 

     Quite frankly, you know, the calculations -- if they are the case, the calculations speak for themselves. I mean, the table is what it is, the averages he has calculated.  If he wants to say it is increasing, I'm not sure why the witness has to confirm that.  The numbers are whatever, and he can argue that at the end of the day in final submissions.  I am not sure why we need to sit while the witness goes through every one of these checkmarks to determine if directionally he has calculated the average correctly or even if directionally it is even correct. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker? 

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I am uncomfortable -- I would be uncomfortable arguing a point that I didn't raise in cross-examination, first of all. 

     And second of all, from a directional point of view, I don't think it's -- I would like to confirm that -- I would like these witnesses to confirm that we're right, and if we're not right, point out why we are not right.  And then, after they have had an opportunity, if they want an opportunity to review the numbers, we will go back and describe the numbers.  

     MR. KEIZER:  What I don't understand is -- is directionally relative to what.  I'm not sure I see -- I see five -- I see two "Total" columns, I see two "Average" columns, and I see a "Variance" column, so I am just not quite sure what we're talking about directionally changing, relative to the line itself in the main body of the table or in the part that AMPCO has calculated.

So I have a hard time understanding that as well.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, can you explain for me customer connections?  Let's use that as an example.  What are you asking this witness panel to confirm?  

     MR. CROCKER:  I am asking them to confirm that in this application they are asking for increased spending to improve -- rather than my describing physically what they're doing -- to improve customer connections or the reliability of customer connections.  They are asking for an increase in spending over the spending which was approved in their last application.  

     So I am asking -- let me put it another way.  I am asking them whether they are asking for approval to spend in the next period of time, 2015 to 2019, more than they spent over the period of their last application, their ICM application.  That's all. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Crocker.  This is a five-year application, and the last ICM application was for three years.  So I am not sure -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  I broke it down -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  I don't understand the question, and I certainly can't do the math in my head to check the numbers.  I'm not sure what -- I mean, are you saying -- I'm just looking at that line -- is 39.3 in 2015 more than 52.1 in 2014?  I mean, is that the question?  

     I think you are trying to -- I don't understand if you're -- because the last application was not for a five-year period.  It was for three years.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Regardless of the time period, what we -- this is what Ms. Grice did.  She went through the application and determined -- for customer connections, for instance -- that they are proposing to spend 43 percent more than they spent in the previous five years.  

And that's all I want now.  That's all I really want them to confirm, that that's what they are proposing for all of these. 

     And as I say, I would be uncomfortable -- despite what Mr. Keizer suggests, I would be uncomfortable arguing that that's what they are doing in final argument, if I don't put it to the witnesses in cross-examination.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Just with respect to the periods, the ICM -- you're quite correct the ICM was over a three-year period. 

     I believe for the 2010 and 2011 period, which was not an ICM period, what Toronto Hydro did do is they did the exercise of mapping their capital expenditures back to these categories. 

     So that period is not an ICM category.  That is just simply the fact that, for purposes of showing history, they mapped it back. 

     So in terms of what my friend will be asking relative to the ICM, the five-year period historically wouldn't be 

the ICM period. 


MR. CROCKER:  I may have misstated my question by limiting it to the ICM period.  It would be for the previous five-year period, 2010 through -- a comparable previous five-year period.  That is what we have suggested in this graph, in this table.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, I am getting blank stares from the 

witness panel, and I am not sure I understand your question. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Can we do it this way?  Can I ask over the lunch break for the panel to confirm that where we have checkmarks on this table, that the proposed spending for the years 2015 to 2019 is more than what was spent in 2010 -- in the previous five-year period?  

     And that, overall, your proposed spending on these projects, five years versus five years, is -- if you go down to the second last line on the page in the second-last column, is 62.88 percent more -- I'm sorry, not percent, but $62.88 million more per year.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, where is the 62.88 million coming from?  

     MR. CROCKER:  It is a figure we calculated. 

     MS. LONG:  Is it on this chart?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  It is on the second-last column to the right and it is the third line from the bottom, 62.88 million.  

     MS. LONG:  Under the "Variance/absolute" column?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  

     MS. LONG:  That, Mr. Crocker, seems to me like it is a directional question; are you spending more in the next five years than you did in the past five years on the projects that you have ticked?  And then you're asking with respect to 62.88 being the absolute variance number; is that correct?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  First of all, I have a table that we got, I think, from e-mail.  But it doesn't seem to correspond to this table that we see on the screen. 

     So I have to clarify that as to what I am looking at, 

relative to what we received and what is here. 

     And you're asking with respect to the directional change for that particular number; is that correct?  

     MS. LONG:  I think what Mr. Crocker is asking is, directionally with respect to all of these projects that he has ticked off, whether the next five-year spend is going to be greater than the last five-year spend. 

     MR. KEIZER:  In the aggregate?  

     MS. LONG:  That is what I understand his question to be.  So it would not be confirming each of these various percentages; it would be directionally saying yes, higher, or no, lower. 

     MR. KEIZER:  That's fine. 

     MS. LONG:  Then he is asking specifically about the 62.88 number, being the total variance amount.  

     MR. CROCKER:  That's correct. 

     MS. LONG:  Is that correct?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  That's fine. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  

     MS. HELT:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Just to clarify,  Mr. Keizer raised a point. 

     There was a separate e-mail that came in on Friday night, February 16th, from AMPCO that included three tables. 

     Now, these tables do not seem to correspond with the ones that are in the compendium. 

     So I think that is what you were alluding to, Mr. Keizer, that you have the e-mail version but not the compendium version?

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes, the e-mail came in last night that had these -– we'll have to clarify it over the break, but it seems that I've got something that was received in an e-mail, which is very different.  

But I am assuming that we have this table, so we will 

do what we can with it. 

     MS. HELT:  Just as long as everyone knows we're referring to the compendium version of the chart.  

     MS. LONG:  And the purpose of the e-mail?  Those charts are now up to date, are they, Mr. Crocker?  Because we're going with the compendium -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes, I understand. 

     MS. LONG:  -- charts.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Ms. Grice advises me that the e-mail -- last night's e-mail was, in fact -- if you flip over the page, that represented the February 6th update from Toronto Hydro. 

     There are some very minor changes from the chart on page 11.  So that the e-mail last night represents the information on 11(a). 

     I could ask, but the question doesn't change.  The questions are the same. 

     MR. KEIZER:  We will work from the compendium and make sure that --

     MR. CROCKER:  They're both in the compendium.

     MR. KEIZER:  We will make sure our witnesses have the appropriate document. 

     MR. CROCKER:  The e-mail last night is 11(a) of the 

compendium.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Let's move on.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I don't want to leave the chart just yet, and I don't care whether -- this question is not dependent on whether you refer to the one last night or the one at page 11.  

Where there is a notation of "N" at the far left-hand side of the page, it is our understanding that these are new projects for which money was not requested in the previous five years.  Are we right?  

     MS. ROUSE:  In our evidence, Exhibit 1B, tab 2, schedule 4, table 2 lists off the programs that were incremental to the approved ICM segments.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I don't understand how that answers my question.  

     MS. ROUSE:  So in table 2, it does list off, then, what programs we have deemed to be new.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  All right.  If I have to ask it this way, I will.  

If you go to page 11(a), is generation projects, 

protection and system access investments, sub -- whatever that means, is that a new project?  

     MS. ROUSE:  Yes, as per table 2, Exhibit 1B, tab 2, 

schedule 4, the generation protection monitoring control was incremental to the OEB-approved ICM segment.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, say that one more time.  It was incremental to what?  

     MS. ROUSE:  To the OEB-approved ICM segments for 2012 to 2014.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Are you telling me -- I don't understand your answer.  Are you telling me that it is new, or that it was part of a segment of a previous program that was approved?  

     MR. WALKER:  If you look at the reference, the table 2 here says:  "Proposed DSP capital programs that are incremental to the OEB-approved ICM segments." 

     MR. CROCKER:  Right. 

     MR. WALKER:  So every one of those programs that are listed there are new, compared to ICM, the ICM filing.  

     So you can cross-reference that list, if you like. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That is all I needed to know.  Thank you.  

     And new in terms of entirely new?  Or new in terms of having been broken out from a larger program previously approved?  Or previously -- for which approval was applied?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, just to clarify your question, are you asking about new -- or comparable to programs prior to ICM?  

     MR. CROCKER:  I'm talking about new in terms of the 2010 -- the previous five years.  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  I think, if I understand your question, there were elements of these kind of programs, these ones that are considered new compared to ICM, in past pre-ICM filings.  Not necessarily in the same groupings as they are here, but we certainly did work of that type. 

     Some of it is also work that was filed under ICM but disallowed, like feeder automation, which we're reintroducing.  

     MR. CROCKER:  We didn't mark feeder automation as being new.  Okay.  I understand your answer.  

     I haven't included the page in here, but there is an expression you use throughout this, in that you suggest that the pacing that you propose in -- the pacing approach that you propose will create moderate rate increases.  And I just want -- I will get to this again later as we go when we talk about the actual rate increases that are going to result from this, but -- from this proposal.  

     But do you stick with your description of the rate increases that are going to happen here as being "moderate"? 


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  And that reference, I believe, refers to the rate increases in the paced approach, compared to the other two: the optimal and the accelerated approaches.  So they're much more moderate increases than those would represent. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Would you agree with me, though, that, in the absolute, that it's not taking into account the other two approaches?  These are pretty significant rate increases that you are proposing?  

     MR. WALKER:  I wouldn't necessarily characterize it that way, but that would be my own personal opinion. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Let's go to page 12, and let's see what the -- of the compendium and see what the actual rate increases are. 

     Okay.  This is your prefiled -- this is from your prefiled material, your prefiled evidence.  You're proposing a rate increase, and this is just two classes that you have set out there, that the rate increase is $4.05 -- I assume that is a month?  Or a 12.29 percent increase in 2015, et cetera, down the road?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if my friend is going to ask questions about the calculation of the rate impacts and what they represent, the rates panel, panel 5, is the panel really to direct that question to.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I am just asking.  I'm not asking for anything other than for them to confirm what is on the page.

MR. KEIZER:  But I think -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  I will ask them one further number that I don't think they're incapable of providing.  I can wait.  It's pretty simple stuff, but I can wait for panel 5 if it is better. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, it just seems to me that one of the issues that was raised at the outset of this proceeding today was that -- and I'm not going to, obviously, put myself in the place of the Board -- but where questions were asked to confirm what information was already in the evidence, and it seems to me that the nature of these questions and most of the questions this morning reflect that. 

     These questions, with respect to is that the number on the page and do you confirm it, in my view, that's unfair to ask these witnesses that question, since they didn't calculate that number, and that there may be other aspects and nuances associated with that calculation which is better put to panel 5, which was directly responsible for the rates and the rate impact sections of the evidence. 

     MS. LONG:  I understand what you're saying, Mr. Keizer.  I do take your point.  But I think what Mr. Crocker is merely trying to establish here is what the new rate would be. 

     I don't expect that he's going to delve into any rate calculation issues, but if he's talking about capital, he probably wants to know what the actual increase is going to be and frame his questions about capital with respect to that.  I am not going to let him go much beyond just stating what the number is.

Mr. Crocker?

     MR. CROCKER:  The only calculation I am asking this panel to confirm is that for the first of the two classes, that over the five-year period you're talking about a 46 -- and this is just arithmetic -- 46.4 percent rate increase and for the second class, a 37.65 percent rate increase.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, Mr. Crocker, that is kind of going off the rails of what we had discussed. 

     MR. CROCKER:  It was just --

MS. LONG:  I think what you can do is you can put to them the number, the actual number of what the increase is going to be.  I think there is no dispute about that.  Then I think you need to frame your questions about capital, because this is the capital panel.  And as Mr. Keizer has stated, anything with respect to how the rates were calculated should go to the rates panel. 

     MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I think I will save it.  It's there, and it can be seen, and I will save the questions for that panel, if it is necessary at all.  

     I am just determining whether these are -- my next series of questions is better for panel 5 or this panel.  

     You indicate, as we have set out on page 14 of the compendium, that the pacing -- the approach that you've taken to your capital -- to your proposed capital spend is to promote predictability in rates and affordability for customers. 


Do you agree that that is your objective?  

     MR. PARADIS:  It seems to be the Board's intent.  Unless you can confirm the source of that document, it seems to be a Board document and not one of our documents. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes, this comes from -- I'm sorry.  It comes from the -- as you see on page 13, the Report of the Board on Renewed Regulatory Framework. 

     I will phrase the question differently.  That is what you are working to achieve; correct?  

     MR. PARADIS:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you believe that what you are proposing, what you're asking for -- the rate increases that we talked about briefly and have punted to panel 5 -- but the rate increases that are set out on page 12, that is what they achieve?  

     MR. WALKER:  I think the way I would characterize it is that we believe that the capital program that we put forward best balances the requirements that we have to serve our customers for the most reasonable rates we can achieve on that basis. 

     I'm not an expert on rate-setting, but we believe that this is the minimum level of capital spend we need to properly manage our distribution system.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And to state the obvious, if you were to spend less, the rate increases would be reduced?  

     MR. WALKER:  I would hesitate to speculate on that.  "Less" is a generic term.  

     In the run-to-fail scenario, eventually costs become greater because everything is replaced on a reactive basis.  So it really depends on what those capital expenditure levels are like, and what work is done for it. 

     So I wouldn't want to speculate on rates. 

     MR. CROCKER:  The Board goes on to say:

"A distributor must exercise control over the pace of its own capital spending, as this factor can be an important element in the total cost." 

     You, I assume, in your proposal have done that, or you believe you have done that; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  We will come to test that in a bit, but okay.  

     I wonder how you can characterize increases in rates of, year over year, 12 and a half, 8, 8 and change, more than 12 and a half, and 5 and a half, year over year, as moderate increases and as being in compliance with the philosophy that the Board sets out in its Renewable Regulatory Framework document.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I still believe, Madam Chair, this is a question more appropriate for the rates and regulatory panel, panel 5, in terms of what this means relative to the various rate classes and what the increases are, whether it is total bill, whether it is distribution, whatever else. 

     Those elements all come together, I think, with respect to those panels -- that panel.  

     I don't think that this is this panel's particular 

area of expertise.  Their expertise is how do we plan for the system and capital planning, recognizing it does have rate impacts, and that working together from a corporate perspective, the decision was made as to whether or not this was appropriate capital budget relative to rate increases. 

     But the other side of the story, I think, which my friend is trying to get to, is really in panel 5. 

     MR. CROCKER:  With all due respect, this is kind of a silly distinction my friend is suggesting. 

     I could rephrase the question and put it within this panel's purview.  

     Are you suggesting that the capital spend that you are 

proposing -- which results in these rates increases -- in fact is resulting in moderate rate increases over the period?  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, I thought you already asked that question.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I think it's –- okay.  Fine. 

     MS. LONG:  I mean, I don't want to belabour this point.  Obviously the -- you know, capital has an issue with respect to the fact that distribution rates are going up, and I don't think anyone is disputing that.  And there is a relationship between rates going up and capital. 

     So I think you have to frame your questions within that context for this panel.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I think the point I was trying to make has been made, and I've probably belaboured it a bit more than I needed to. 

     I am going to move into another area.  It is five minutes earlier than you wanted, but this area will take more than five minutes.  I don't know whether you want to  break now, or you want me to start. 

     MS. LONG:  I think we should break now, and we will take a little bit of a longer break today.  We will come back at 1:40.  That should give the parties time to take a look at those charts, and deal with any other preliminary issues that they have.  

Mr. Keizer?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Just one point with respect to the 

undertakings this morning and as to whether or not they would be best answered in undertaking, or be posed to panel 3, I am able to confirm that there will be a witness available as part of that panel which will be able to respond to CUPE's request related to those tables in terms of the breakouts from various areas. 

     So we won't be providing an answer by way of undertaking.  We will have someone who will be available to respond to those questions. 

     MS. LONG:  That's very good.  Thank you for accommodating us.  It is always easier for the Panel if we can get the evidence on the record, and then if we have any questions we're able to ask them, instead of sometimes interrogatory -- undertaking responses come a bit later and then we don't have the opportunity to question that evidence.  So I thank you for doing that for us. 

     So we will be back at 1:40, then. 

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 1:41 p.m.
MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may, just before Mr. Crocker recommences, just two items that arose over lunch, or that we were to deal with over lunch. 

     The first is just to correct a comment that was made this morning with respect to the wireline submissions that people were making, given Rogers' request. 

     There was a comment made that the incremental revenue associated with the new specific charge was $4 million.  It is actually $6.7 million, is the correct figure, just to make sure that everybody had the correct information.  So I wanted to correct that point. 

     The second is that, further to your comment this morning about panel scheduling, and in light of what you currently have recorded for the productivity panel, that the productivity panel would be available to begin on Thursday morning, and we would stand this panel down until that panel was done and then bring the panel back.


We're assuming that Board Staff's witness from PEG would follow the productivity panel.  So that would be done in one block, and then this capital panel would come back on after that, if that works. 

     MS. HELT:  From Board Staff's planning, that's correct.  We would have Mr. Kaufmann available after panel 2.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Good.  Then I think that that is how we should proceed on Thursday. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker? 

     MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     We provided -- Ms. Grice actually provided over lunch the numbers that were missing from the interrogatory that -- the BOMA interrogatory that we noted with respect to approved dollars which were missing from the interrogatory, moving from 2010 forward.  

     So I would like to go back, then, to that table that is on page 9 and ask the panel to confirm for me that in 2010 THESL was approved for $350 million and spent just over 400, and for 2011 they were approved for 378, just a little bit more, and -- or 378.8 million, and they spent 445.5, and in 2012 approved for 203.3 million -- 203.3 million -- I'm losing track of -- these numbers are so big.  I'm used to dollars and cents -- 203.3 million -- I think that's right -- and spent 288 million.  

     And anyway -- and in 2013 you were approved for 484.2 million and you spent 445.7 million.  Are those numbers correct?  

     MS. ROUSE:  Yes.  We had a chance to validate those numbers. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have a couple of questions with 

respect to them.

First of all, on what authority -- or put another way, what allows THESL to spend in 2010, for instance, 50 million, over 50 million more than was approved by the Board?  And for all of these other years, what allows the overspending, or the spending beyond what was approved?  

     MS. ROUSE:  If I could bring up Interrogatory Response 2(a), VECC 8, in this undertaking response we speak to the 2011 CAPEX spent that was spent above and beyond the Board-approved amounts. 

     So here we highlight that 715 Milner, we had spent 17.3 million, 36 million related to civil and underground work, and 13.4 million related to the Canadian Power Survey Corporation lease. 

     So these amounts weren't known at the time of the 2011 rebasing application and were incurred subsequently to that time, based on, for example, the Canadian Power Survey Corporation lease.  The lease was signed in the third quarter of 2013, for example.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I understand why you spent it, then, but I don't understand why you felt that you could.

And what about the other years that I mentioned?  That was one year; what about the other years?  

     MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry.  I am confused about the nature of the question.  If I understand this table that is before the witnesses now, it is capital expenditure, and that the Board, although it may look at capital expenditures and decide that the capital expenditure budget is reasonable, it doesn't necessarily impose a cap on the utility with respect to its expenditure.  It was --

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, with respect --


MR. KEIZER:  -- with respect to --


MR. CROCKER:  Let me interrupt.  Excuse me. 

     MR. KEIZER:  No, let me finish. 


MR. CROCKER:  No, I'm not --

     MS. LONG:  I want to hear people one at a time, so, Mr. Keizer, please speak, and then --


MR. KEIZER:  But it does allow --


MS. LONG:  -- he can respond -- 

     MR. KEIZER:  -- for in-service additions, so I guess I am a bit confused by the nature of the approval that my friend is asking the witnesses to allude to. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker? 

     MR. CROCKER:  I don't think it is appropriate for Mr. Keizer to give evidence, which is what I was -- why I was interrupting.  I wanted to know, from the panel, why the panel felt THESL had the authority to spend beyond what was approved.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, when you're both speaking at the same time, the court reporter can't actually --


MR. CROCKER:  I understand.


MS. LONG:  -- make notes of what you're saying. 

     MR. CROCKER:  I understand. 

     MS. LONG:  So for her sake and for the sake of the Panel, you have to speak one at a time. 

     MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  

     I still don't understand why -- where THESL's authority comes from to overspend.  That is all.  That's all I want to know.  And --

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, are you asking for a legal opinion?  Because I don't know that this panel can give you a legal opinion when you say "authority," but are you asking -- I think you need to rephrase your question so that --

     MR. CROCKER:  I didn't say "authority" originally. 

     MS. LONG:  You just said --


MR. CROCKER:  What I said --


MS. LONG:  -- "authority" now, so I think there may be 

--


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah, I'll --


MS. LONG:  -- some confusion --


MR. CROCKER:  -- rephrase it.


MS. LONG:  -- as to what it is you're asking. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Why do you believe that you can spend beyond what the Board has approved?  

     MR. WALKER:  During the course of any given year, there are things that emerge that need to be addressed for reliability purposes, for safety purposes.

One example was stray voltage.  When we determined that there were situations where we had stray voltage on some of our electrical plant, we had to undertake to deal with that. 

     So there are things that emerge that have to be addressed and, you know, it is part of our obligation to serve our customers.  And if that means we have to overspend, then that's what we will do.  

     MR. CROCKER:  But couldn't you -- other than -- rather than overspend, couldn't you borrow from Peter to pay Paul?  Couldn't you not do things that you otherwise were planning to do and do the emergency things and not overspend?  

     MR. WALKER:  All of the work that we put forward, in our view, is important work to be carried out.  So we typically will defer work only for operational reasons, but if there is a good justification, from our utility management perspective, to do work, we will do it.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I don't like to ask anybody to do math on the go, and so I would rather not do that.  But will you confirm for me at some point that, roughly, the trend is 20 percent over, that the spending is about 20 percent, roughly -- between 2010 and 2014, as we've got here, roughly 20 percent over what you were approved?  

     It's not really complicated.  It is just not fair to ask you to do it while you're sitting there.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Is Mr. Crocker asking for an undertaking? Is that what he's --

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker?

     MR. CROCKER:  Sure, it could be an undertaking.  It is done in the table in the corner, the top right-hand corner.  

     I just need you to confirm the math, if you could maybe do it at the afternoon break.  If you can -- it's really simple stuff. 

     MS. LONG:  Can we have an undertaking number for that, please?

     MS. HELT:  Sure.  Undertaking J1.4, to confirm that the trend in spending between 2010 and 2014 is approximately 20 percent greater than the amount that was approved by the Board. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO CONFIRM THAT THE TREND IN SPENDING BETWEEN 2010 AND 2014 IS APPROXIMATELY 20 PERCENT GREATER THAN THE AMOUNT APPROVED BY THE BOARD.

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

Okay.  I had a whole bunch of things I was going to ask you about historical things, because I will later on ask you what role sort of history plays in your planning and your determination of efficiency.

But I am going to skip over that for now and go to the table on page 26 of the compendium.  

     This comes from EB-2009-0139, and it's D1, tab 8, schedule 10.   

     This is your capital spending plan back then, and if we look -- once again, let's forget history now because it 

seems to be complicating things unnecessarily.  

Let's look at your plan for 2015 to 2019.  If I add the numbers at the total capital -- the bottom of each column, the total capital plan numbers, the bottom of the column, I get to 1.55 million.  That was your planned spend -- I'm sorry, I said "million."  It's 1.55 billion.  

      MS. ROUSE:  Could you clarify for us which numbers you're adding?  I don't think we're getting to the same amount. 

     MR. CROCKER:  The number for 2015 is 328.2 million, and I am just following along that line for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019.  

     MS. ROUSE:  So I get to 1.553 billion.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And if we were to go back to the blue chart at the very beginning of this -- I don't think we have to, but if you want to, you can -- what you are proposing to spend now for that period of time is $2,489,500,000; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, we see that.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you explain to me why the 

difference?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  First of all, in the intervening years between when this was published and today, we haven't been spending at the rate that we had anticipated, because of the ICM years, as an example, and in the categories that we had anticipated. 

     We also have better data.  We're always refining our data, and as we do so we're learning more about the system and about problems on the system. 

     We have elements in our spend that are not purely renewal expenditures.  So if you look at the growth in the downtown core that we've seen in the last few years, it is significantly higher than what it was in the past.  So things like our customer connections are larger, and so on.  

     I think that would account for it.  

     MR. CROCKER:  We've talked about what your spend was 

already, which is why I went over the numbers that were approved and the numbers you spent. 

     What do you mean when you say you didn't -- you didn't 

spend?  

     MR. WALKER:  Having a preliminary look at this, it looks like there are spending categories that are missing as well. 

     Copeland station is not included in appendix A on your page 26.  It looks like general plant is missing as well.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And those expenses would be included in the 248, the present proposed --  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  What about -- are you using any different tools now than you did then, to determine the condition of your assets?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. OTAL:  So in answer to this question, I would say we've been using the same set of decision support systems as what was presented here.  And we've simply refined those systems over time in order to make refined decisions and improved decisions on our asset base.  

     MR. CROCKER:  What did you mean, then, when you said "better data"?  

     MR. PARADIS:  As we go through cycles of inspections and secure more information about failure types in the performance of our system, our data becomes refined, and that's what we meant by "better data." 

     So for example, certain inspection cycles that provide 

information to our ACA are done over a period of multiple 

years in certain instances, ten or even 15 years. 

     And in those cases, as we go through a full cycle for our entire population, we would have what we would call refined data, or better data for that population of assets.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Not to belabour the point, but refined in what way?  Then I have one further question and we can move on.  

So refined in what way?  

     MR. PARADIS:  More complete, in terms of a data set, for example.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Sorry.  The decisions that you said you made over time were refined.  What do you mean by that?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. PARADIS:  Yes.  So as mentioned, as we identify performance issues in the system, we account for those new realities and those newly identified realities in our decision support tools. 

     So for example, the fibre tops units and their failure rates and the circumstances under which the units fail would be something that initially may have -- not have been included in our feeder investment model, but as we refine those tools we would look to incorporate some of those elements into our decision support tools.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Did you use, in 2009, the feeder investment model?  

     MR. OTAL:  Yes, we did.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And has it been one of those decision support systems that has been refined over time?  

     MR. OTAL:  Yes, it has been refined over time. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Do you propose to continue to refine it?  

     MR. OTAL:  Absolutely.  Along with all of our decision support systems, we strive for continuous improvement.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Can you describe what the differences are to the feeder investment model used in 2009 versus what -- the model that you now use?  And can you describe -- if there is any difference -- the importance of the feeder investment model now to then?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. OTAL:  So if I refer to our interrogatory response, 2B, AMPCO 13, if I refer to parts (b), (c) and (d) -- and here we talk about some of the more recent improvements that have taken place between the last application and this one -- these would certainly be improvements beyond what we would have had back in 2009.  

     So as an example, if I look at part (d) of this response -- that's going to be on page 3 of 3 -- on line 16 we have a series of new asset classes that we've evaluated as part of this application through the feeder investment model. 

     Now, as far as the importance of the feeder investment model, its importance has stayed the same throughout our asset management planning process. 

     We are using the feeder investment model along with our other decision support systems in order to make the most effective decisions on our assets.  

     MR. CROCKER:  So that I can understand how you use the feeder investment model -- and I will get to this in a little bit in a bit more detail, but I'm correct, am I not, in describing -- and you've described it through your evidence at some length, that you do -- first you do an assessment of the age of the asset.  Then you do an asset assessment.  And then you feed that information into the feeder investment model.  Is that how it works?  Is that how your system works?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. OTAL:  So, I mean, variables like age and health index that's coming out of our asset condition assessment program, they are inputs in the feeder investment model, but at the same time we're using all three variables along with other variables when we're, you know, attempting to prioritize assets within a given program from a long-term planning perspective.  

     So we're using it in both ways, both in -- you know, the variables in combination with each other and age and condition are also used as inputs into the feeder investment model.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And as the feeder investment model improves over time, is it -- is its suggestion to you, to make it simple and silly sounding, is it more valuable?  Do you use it -- is it more valuable to you now?  Does it influence your decisions more now than it used to?  

     MR. OTAL:  I mean, I think, as I mentioned before, we're using it and it's influencing our activities in the same way as before. 

     I mean, really, the feeder investment model, other decision support systems that we have in place, it is really an extension or a different view of our data-driven engineering analysis and judgment that we're making on the system.  It begins at our assets.  We see the problems we're having at an asset level.  We see the problems in the field.  And over time that got translated into data, it got translated into systems.  And so we're providing different views of that information. 

     The importance has remained the same, in terms of how we're using that information to help us make those decisions across the distribution system.  

     MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If we go back to the table in 2009 and we go to 2015 to -- or in fact the green table.  It doesn't matter really which table we use.  

     Did you establish any asset unit target costs regarding the costs that you forecast in those tables?  Use the more modern table; it will be more helpful.  The green table -- or blue, whatever colour it was.  Page 8, I think.  

     MR. WALKER:  Is this the table you're referring to?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  We can use that one.  Yes, fine.  Because you have some pretty specific numbers.  And I just wondered whether -- yes, that's the table I'm referring to.  

     For instance, I mean, you say, under "System asset access investment subtotal," for 2000 and -- well, take another one.  For underground circuit renewal, you say you're spending 80.1 -- proposing to spend $80.1 million.  Got me?  Are you with me?  I mean, that is just an example.  

     Have you -- did you have asset unit target costs when you came up with that number?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, can you clarify what you mean by "asset unit target costs"?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Did you have a number of units you were going to replace and the cost of the unit?  


[Witness panel confers]

MR. PARADIS:  So that would depend on the nature of the program. 

     For certain programs, it's a number of units that is targeted for replacement that would drive the values that are projected.  In other cases, it's an amount of load to be converted.  

And so it would be dependent on the nature of the program, as to how the projection was established. 

     For example, with respect to customer connections, we use a combination of known expected connections and also historical numbers, in terms of some of the smaller connections. 

     So there would be a level of variability, in terms of how we establish those numbers, based on the type of program.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We'll get into it in a bit more detail in a little bit.

But did you -- how did you factor in all of this?  Attempts to establish efficiencies, and by that I mean efficiencies such as -- I assume, for instance, your material shows that your external contractors are less expensive than doing work internally. 

     Did you factor into your costs any attempt to bridge that gap and close that gap, so that you were less expensive internally and approached the price of external contractors?  

     Did you -- were there any other efficiency -- and I'm going to talk about metrics later, but any efficiency metrics that you applied to any of this pricing?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  In looking at the 2015 work program, the breakdown of it as an example, 81 percent of the costs associated with the capital work program are market-driven.  That's material costs which are market-driven, civil construction, which is all done by contractors, and a good portion of our electrical design and construction, which is also done by contractors. 

     So that, by definition, has the efficiency built into it, based on a market-driven bidding process. 

     The remaining costs are internal costs, and in our execution we're always looking for ways to find efficiencies.  And I think where we're moving in the future with that is the asset assembly metric we're looking at, which is going to give us a better understanding of how we execute work and the difficulties that we have across our different types of assets that we're constructing, in order to learn from that and drive efficiencies. 

     We have also done a number of other things in terms of our material handling costs, having third-party logistics, taking some of the fleet costs and putting them out to the market, and so on. 

     So we have done a lot of things that are driving down those costs moving forward in the program, and those will translate into real cost savings in each individual program.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Did you set targets?  

     MR. WALKER:  We haven't set specific targets, no, but we are doing those things in order to achieve those costs by, you know, their normal execution.  

     MR. CROCKER:  This leads me to some questions that come out of the motion that we brought, and which ultimately we didn't pursue as a result of discussions we had in an attempt to settle the motion. 

     And I think because of that, I'm probably directing my 

questions to Mr. Walker and Ms. Rouse.  Okay?

     On page 29 of the compendium, you provided historical 

spending and proposed future spending numbers.  And then on page 30 of the compendium, what you provide is future units that you propose to replace; correct?  

One doesn't necessarily follow the other, but that's what is reflected on those two pages?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You haven't provided anywhere that I know of -- and I'm sure you'll correct me if I'm wrong -- the units that you proposed -- not proposed, that you actually replaced in 2010 to 2014; correct?  

That's what we asked you for in the motion.  That's what we couldn't find; correct?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  I believe what we provided were units for 

projects that were in-service.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  But you didn't provide us with -- what we asked for in the motion was for you to tell us the units that you replaced for 2010 and 2014.  

I don't want to go through the responses, but you'd agree with me that you told me you couldn't do that because that is not now how you track things.  

     And you referred me to looking at -- us, not me -- to 

looking at projects, not units; correct?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, I think that's correct. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And then when -- and I don't want to go through it all because it will take a lot of time.  But ultimately, after we discussed this, Ms. Rouse, you were able to provide us with some of the -- some units that -- quantities of units that had been replaced using a different computer system.  Right?  

     MS. ROUSE:  To reiterate, we don't look at our capital program based on unit costing, but once the assets go into service our financial sub-ledger is able to provide us the actual assets that went into service and the related quantities.  So that's what was provided in our response to that motion. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I will get to that in a second.  

     So we asked you to look at units because we were trying to compare -- we wanted a baseline to be able to establish the -- the reasonableness of what you were proposing and whether you were doing things efficiently and doing things better than you used to, all of those other kinds of things. 

     And you told us, as I say, that the unit measurement wasn't an appropriate -- wasn't meaningful to THESL in order to make those kinds of comparisons.  That's correct, isn't it? 

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that is correct.

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If that isn't meaningful, I assume that history does play a part in terms of your planning.  What you've done historically does play a part in what you propose to do in the future.  Do you agree with that? 

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  In broad terms, it does. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If unit cost isn't a valuable tool for you, what does allow you to compare past to future and allow you to assess your efficiency and the reasonableness of your proposals?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, I think in my affidavit, as I tried to establish, that is precisely what unit costing does not do for us. 

     If we try to compare past cost to future cost, projected cost, we're not necessarily comparing the same kind of unit.  Installing a pole in, you know, the downtown core of Toronto is a completely different costing structure than installing it in a subdivision in the north of Scarborough, as an example. 

     Some poles have a single-phase single circuit on.  And some have a three-phase circuit.  Some have two three-phase circuits.  Some have transformers hung on them and some do not, and so on and so on. 

     So the variability in units is huge, and the variability in the programs year over year can be huge as well.  In one year, if we are doing more projects in the downtown core than we are in the Horseshoe, our unit costing -- should we calculate one -- is going to be significantly higher than it would be if we were doing more in Scarborough than we were in downtown Toronto. 

     If we're doing those poles in an area where there's parking restrictions in this job and there's another job where there are no parking restrictions, our costs are going to be different, and so on and so on. 

     So when we try to apply average unit costing, we find it meaningless.  And especially as an efficiency measure, it provides no value.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And I understand that, and that's what you said to me -- said to us in response to our motion. 

     My question was, though:  If the unit cost isn't meaningful for all of the reasons that you've suggested, what is meaningful?  What do you use?  

     MR. WALKER:  So the method that we use is comparing our actual costs to our detailed design.  The detailed design establishes what the costing of constructing a project should be, given its particular circumstances.  So given the type of installation, the location in the city, the particular conditions that are there, whether or not there are parking restrictions, as I mentioned, whether it's a long travel distance to the job site compared to another job, whether we're installing poles in concrete as opposed to in soil, et cetera, et cetera.  

     So what would then -- we then do is we compare the actual cost that we are -- that it is costing us to construct that project against that estimate.  

     MR. CROCKER:  That doesn't -- two questions.  That doesn't have anything to do with historical costs, does it?  

     MR. WALKER:  Not directly, no.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And doesn't that assess more the accuracy of the predictor, rather than the efficiency of your implementation of the program?  

     I mean, if he's way off, or she, whoever does the predicting is way off, and you come in close to the predicted cost, all that says is that you may have complied reasonably well with an erroneous prediction. 

     And if he's -- he or she is way off and you are much less than the prediction, it doesn't necessarily say anything about how good you are.  Doesn't it -- can't it equally comment on how reasonable the prediction was?  

     It doesn't take -- it doesn't -- it doesn't allow you to -- I'm asking you:  How does it allow you to compare what you are proposing to do and the costs of what you are intending to spend on what you are proposing to do with what you have done in the past?  And whether -- and therefore how can you assess your efficiency in doing it now versus how you did it historically?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, first of all, what we have been doing in recent years is trying to maximize the wrench time for our crews.  So think of that as time when you're on the job and able to actually do work. 

     We've looked at ways to minimize the time it takes them to deploy in the morning and get to the job site.  We're looking at ways to try and limit the amount of time it takes to get work protection in place, which needs to be there for safety reasons before you can begin work. 

     So we're maximizing the opportunity for work to be carried out, if you like.  And that definitely is -- you know, enhances our productivity.  

     In terms of the unit costing concept, we have proposed the asset assembly metric, and that tool will allow us to more directly look at our cost structures for constructing particular asset assemblies, given their particular context, and help us to find other efficiencies. 

     So that's how we're going to be addressing that, moving forward.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And are you going to compare it to the wrench time -- for want of a better example -- that was -- that existed in 2010 and 2012 -- '11 and '12 and '13, et cetera?  

     MR. WALKER:  We won't be able to apply the asset assembly concept to past costs.  It is just not possible.  This is actually a different way that we will execute work.  Instead of having all of the pole installations under one number, if you like, we'll have the costs associated with assembling the set of assets at a location tracked as one entity. 

     And in doing that, we'll be able to assess -- the intent is to challenge the crew to exceed (sic) that expected cost to construct that particular -- excuse me, particular assembly, and then ask them to account for how they were able to do that, and that's how we're going to learn to improve our ability to do units.  

     So it's a very pragmatic way to do it, given the variability in the assemblies that we have to deal with in the construction world that we're in.

I'm sorry, it sounds like I said "exceed" the cost.  It is not exceed the cost; it is coming under the cost.  My apologies.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I would just like to understand the significance, then, of something that you provided us in 

response to the discussion we had in trying to settle the issues at the motion.  

     If we look on page 54 of the compendium, you talk about switch renewal.  And following Ms. Rouse's description of what she's provided, she's provided that 31 switches cost $957,343.  Right?  

I'm sorry, 2013, bottom of the page, if we turn the page on the side of page 54 on that table.  Are you with me?  

     Okay.  Right, 31 switches, $957,343 and change.  Correct. 

MS. ROUSE:  Yes.  Those particular 31 switches were installed, and the all-in cost for those switches was $957,343.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Right, that's what you said, installed.

Then RTU, what is RTU?  Whatever RTU is it doesn’t matter.  We'll follow RTU along -- 

     MR. WALKER:  It is a remote terminal unit.  It is a device that operates the switch. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Right.  You replaced 25 of those at a cost of $732,206.  Right?

     MS. ROUSE:  Again, yes, we installed 25 units for $732,000.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just to follow along, then, to go back and ask -- I want to ask the question I asked again.  

     Those numbers, are they of any influence to you in what you propose to do with switches and remote terminal units and the costing of those going forward, as proposed in this application?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, again, the costing of those 31 overhead switches -- let's take as an example the $957,000 -- that cost is a result of the particular circumstances of the installation of those 31 switches when those were done. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Right. 

     MR. WALKER:  So some of those switches may be on poles that are along a street and have easy access, and some may have been at corners where the work was considerably more complicated, and hence more expensive. 

     So moving forward, we don't know what the mix of work is going to be for switch installations. 

     We may get a bunch of them that are very simple and easy to install, or we may get a bunch that are very difficult. 

     So that $957,000 really doesn't inform us very much about what it is going to cost us to install the next 31 switches.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I understand, and that accords with what you have said earlier. 

     In doing simple math, the cost -- the cost per switch is $30,882, and the cost for an RTU is $29,288.  

     Do you agree with that, Ms. Rouse?  

     MS. ROUSE:  If we did the straight math, I get to the same averages that you do.  But again, we don't look at our units as an average.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I know, I know.  Go to page 57.  

     Under the SCADA, the switch renewal program right at the top of the page, you see your estimate in 2015 is to do 72?  Do you see that?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  

     MR. CROCKER:  $6.16 million; see that?

     MR. WALKER:  Yes.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  I didn't and I should have added 52 RTUs to that cost as well, which is in the note below, and I didn't add that.  Okay.  

     That's 124 units.  Right?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes. 

     MR. CROCKER:  If we divide that, we get about $49,000 per unit; correct?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  If you look at the same document that this table comes from, the response to the motion on page 2, we note that for that particular program of work, there are other assets that are included potentially in the installation. 

     So we may be replacing poles, for example, as well.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Right. 

     MR. WALKER:  So that would change the cost structure 

associated with that.  And that's another example of some of the complexity when we're looking at these things from a unit perspective. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I was assuming we're talking about the numbers that we're talking about.  We're not talking about four or five.  We're talking about quite a few numbers that you would have similar complexities historically than you have now.  There would be a variety of different complexities which existed then and exist now.  

But anyway I understand the point.  You have made it several times, and I understand it. 

     The average cost in what I pointed out was $49,000. 

     MR. WALKER:  But just for clarity, that first set of numbers that you looked at were strictly for switches, not for pole replacements, as an example.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I don't see any reference in Ms. Rouse's 

comment to me about poles, but all right.  It says what it says.  It is what it is.  

     If I look at your updated information, which is at page 62 of the compendium, you change the number of switches.  Under the heading "2015," you change the number of switches and RTUs from what Ms. Rouse suggested.  

      MS. ROUSE:  To clarify, are you on page 62?  I only see here the 2015 to 2019 amounts.  

     The amounts that were provided by myself are the ones that were the historical, 2012, 2013 and June 2014 in-service amounts. 

     MR. CROCKER:  No.  If you go back to the last reference I made -- it's right at the top of the page -- the heading is:  "2015 - Discrete Asset Program Forecasts”  Right?  Do you see that?

So that's a forecast number that you gave me, then.  And I am taking you to an updated forecast number on page 62.

The point I want to make is that you change the number of switches you intended to install, but you didn't change the forecast cost.  And so now, if I do the math, the costs comes down to 36 -- $36,000, which is much closer to what you had originally indicated to me was the cost, the actual cost of doing that.  

     And I want -- I am going to ask you again:  What, if any, influence the historical cost had on your revised figures?


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. KEIZER:  Maybe, Madam Chair, it would facilitate things if we actually looked at why the issue was the difference between the two tables at the break and be able to advise?  If not, provide an undertaking as to why one table for the 2015 has been updated to reflect.

I think that is my friend's question, is it not?  Partly that, plus also the impact of the historical costs on that?

     MR. CROCKER:  And I can add one further question, then, if you need time to think about this.  Does the $36,000 figure that I gave you include poles or not?  And if it does, does the number come down closer to $30,000?  

     MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, we're going to take a break around 3:00 o'clock.  So you can just perhaps move on to a different area of questioning and then come back to that after the break. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Okay.  

     Okay.  In order for us to determine the significance of what you spent in 2012 to 2014, and to compare that to what you are proposing to spend on the units you are proposing to replace and install, as we've already discussed, we have what you intend to do in the future and what you intend to spend on that.


The missing piece for us, in being able to compare history to present -- to future in order to make recommendations or submissions to the Board on whether it's a reasonable spend, is for us to have from you what you did, the units you put in the ground between 2012 and 2014.  

     And rather than -- for me to go through the whole exercise of pointing out to you why we don't have it, which will take some time, and where the gaps are in your evidence, I would like you to agree with me that we don't have information on what you did between 2012 and 2014, the work that you did.  And I would like an undertaking from you to get it.  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  If we can direct you to OEB Staff 39. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, that's what I was going to take you through, but okay.  Fine.  You go ahead.  

     MR. WALKER:  In our evidence we talk about the difficulty we have in producing the numbers you're asking for and the reasons why, but we do provide what we provided here in order to give you some indication of how we're able to manage our work, which should give you some comfort as to the -- you know, our ability to manage. 

     And in this, we look at, first of all, our forecasts for capital and -- capital spend and in-service amounts for the three-year ICM program -- correct me if I'm wrong -- and we also talk about 188 projects that we've actually completed as of the time of this filing from the years '12 and '13, where we have fully completed costs and in-service amounts.  And in the first case we come in within 5 percent in our forecast, and in those specific projects we come in within 8 percent. 

     So to our mind, that's demonstrating that we are able to manage to the spend that we're putting forward.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But that's only half of -- it's slightly different than what I was asking you, the reason why I was asking you for what I was asking.  

     Maybe we want to comment to the Board on whether or not you can manage, but we also want to be able to put in perspective what you are proposing.  And what you have given in response to that interrogatory doesn't allow us to do that.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Crocker, when you talk about the units actually -- are you talking about the units -- number of units put in service for each of those years for a particular program?  Is that what you're referring to?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Projects are fine.  We've already talked about units, and I understand that you don't track units, and it was told to us a whole bunch of times, and I believe it now if I didn't then.  

     I'm okay with projects.  We're okay with projects.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I was just thinking back to the response that we made as part of settling the motion, as to whether that is the nature of the data that you were actually looking to.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's go to -- if you could go to page 74 of the -- this is maybe an easy example -- 74 of the compendium and following.  

     Okay?  This is just an example.  What you have described here is work that you are proposing -- projects that you are proposing to do in the year that you are proposing to do them, and the amount of money you are proposing to spend on those projects; correct?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, to be clear, though, this comes from the ICM proceeding; correct?  It's not filed in this proceeding; is that right, Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, yes, it is.  I mean, it says so at the top of the page.  I should have pointed it out.  

     MR. WALKER:  So these are ICM, as I understand it?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes. 

     MR. WALKER:   Okay.  I'm sorry, your question was?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  What we know is what you spent over that period of time, and I have gone through that with you. 

What we don't know is what you did, and I would like you to tell us, of these projects, which of them you did.  

You go through -- and I can take you through more 

of your evidence where you talk about carryovers, and you talk about 14 programs being carried over.  And then you changed that to -- I can't remember -- I think 16.4 or 18.4 or something like that, projects that you're carrying forward. 

     But nowhere do we have anything that tells us what you did so we can assess the cost, how you allocated your costs and how you proposed to allocate your costs and whether it is reasonable, whether it reflects efficiencies.

And that's the kind of issue we're looking for.  

     MR. WALKER:  Our understanding was that those discussions were part of the true-up process, which we were not expecting to have completed until the end of the second quarter. 

     We're not in a position, as I believe I state in my affidavit, to be able to produce that at this time.  So unfortunately, we are not able to do that.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I didn't realize that that was part of the true-up.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Walker, is that for everything, or just for 2014 spend?  Is that 2012 and 2013, you don't know either?  

[Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  So we have mapped the projects for 2012 and 2013 back -- the actual ones that were executed back to the original ones that were filed, is what I mean by "mapping." 

     We haven't mapped what was done in 2014 yet, and because of the late start in 2012 and the subsequent delay in many of the projects, a number of the projects that were called for in 2012 and 2013 were still being completed in 2014. 

     So that's why we took the approach we did with OEB Staff 39.  We covered off the ones that had been completed and were in ISA to give a perspective at that time.  But we can't do the entire ICM filing until we complete that mapping-up exercise.  

     I'm sorry, did that answer your question?  

     MS. LONG:  I'm just pondering, because I understand you don't have the information completed.  But I also understand Mr. Crocker's point that he wants to get a bit of a snapshot picture of what you have completed. 

     So perhaps the Panel will take a break and think about how best we could get this information before us.  

Mr. Keizer, did you have something you wanted to add?  

     MR. KEIZER:  No.  I think the OEB Staff 39 IR does get a good part of the way there, dealing with 2012 and 2013.  It is just the 2014 closeout, as I understand it, hasn't yet been fully completed. 

     So that's one of the other reasons for the issue of the delay.  

     MR. CROCKER:  This is a good time to break. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  We will break until 3:20.  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:57 p.m. 

     --- Upon resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Crocker, we had an opportunity to look at the response to OEB Staff 39 at the break.  And our question to you was:  Does this cover off what you need for 2012 and 2013?  

     MR. CROCKER:  No, Madam Chair, it doesn't. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Can you explain why it doesn't?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  It doesn't -- it doesn't tell me -- not me.  It doesn't indicate what projects were done.  It merely indicates the number, as I understand it, the number of projects that were done without any indication of how many were proposed to be done.

And so what we would like to know is exactly what was done, what projects were done.  Not the number of projects, but -- maybe even -- the number in the context of how many were proposed would be more helpful.  But we would like to know the projects that were done.  

     MS. LONG:  Projects that were completed or the projects that were in progress?  I want to...

     MR. CROCKER:  Both, I suppose.  But particularly the projects that were completed, because we do have an indication of the carryover now.  So the projects that were completed.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Walker, are you able to provide that?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, what Board Staff 39 represents are the projects that were completed that were called for in the original filing in -- for the years '12 and '13, so that is 188 projects that we tabled as needing to be done and that we actually completed at the time of that interrogatory.  

     So the point, I think, that we were trying to make with it is trying to demonstrate that we're managing those projects well.  That is a significant sample of the '12 and '13 projects that we undertook.  And it, you know, shows that we were able to manage those within 8 percent.


Giving the individual projects is a little more complicated.  We could certainly give the projects that made up the 88, you know, by name if that helps -- sorry, the 188.  In order to do the entire ICM three years, though, that's where we still have work to do in preparing for true-up.  And that is, what happens when we execute on a work program, because of the nature of the systems we have and especially our old ERP, we're unable to create a single identifier for a project. 

     When you create a project, it generates its own number.  That is the just the way it works.  You can only do that when you get to the point where you're ready to actually execute the work.  So all of the planning and everything that happens ahead of time has to be done in different systems. 

     That's why it is difficult for us to connect the dots between what we asked for and what we actually executed, and that's the manual effort we have to go through. 

     So we've done that for '12 and '13.  We have not done that yet for '14.  So, you know, I think if we can provide those 188 projects by name, perhaps that would be enough to get the point across. 

     From our view, that is a very significant portion of the '12 and '13 program, and it should give some comfort that we're managing to what we said we were going to do within a reasonable percentage.  

     MS. LONG:  I guess I'm confused.  I thought this issue had been dealt with at the time that the motion had been settled, but clearly the parties are not ad idem as to how it was settled, or that you didn't get the information that you wanted.  Is that fair?  

     MR. KEIZER:  As I understood the motion, the motion was to deal with unit cost numbers when we were looking at particular units that were installed historically, and relative costs to those. 

     So what we were able to do for '12 and '13, based on the work that was done to date, was provide the in-service additions and the number of units on the basis of an in-service addition for particular areas as sought by AMPCO.  And that was provided in the response. 

     So it was on a unit basis, not so much on a project basis.  So it was a number of units per program on an in-service amount basis.


So within the record there is, I think, a series of numbers which show the work that was completed in '12 and '13.  There is IR 39.  There is the response to the AMPCO motion as well.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  What we received -- Mr. Keizer and Mr. Walker convinced us that they couldn't provide reasonably the unit costs, the unit numbers and the unit costs that we were asking for.  And so -- and that was the essence of the motion.  And we compromised with the -- by accepting the in-service additions, as I say, as a compromise. 

     But sort of as an aside to this -- and this didn't come up directly in the motion -- we didn't -- we didn't ask that Toronto Hydro provide us with the number of projects that were completed over the ICM period or over the five-year period previous to this, and developed a cross-examination on the need for it on the basis of the information provided in response to the Board's Interrogatory 39.  

     It was sort of -- this is sort of another way of us trying to provide context here.  It was -- we didn't directly ask for it.  The motion wasn't directed towards the projects directly.  

     And so we didn't ask for it and they didn't provide it, but that's what we are asking for now.  


[Board Panel members confer]  

     MR. CROCKER:  I should add this, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  They said to us that -- for all of the reasons Mr. Walker gave in response to the motion and repeated here -- that our request for unit costs was not meaningful because of all of the variables associated with the unit cost issues; putting up a pole downtown versus putting up a pole in Scarborough, as an example. 

     What they said was they track by project, which led us to ask now, today, for -- and it's clearly missing in the 

information, in the prefiled information. 

     We have comparable spend numbers and proposed numbers to be spent and numbers -- number of units and projects to be done. 

     What we don't have -- even with the response to the Board's interrogatory -- is what they did with the money that they spent.  

     Mr. Walker says 188 projects for 2012 and 2013.  I don't think we have the -- I don't think we have that in context.  We don't know how many of what was to be done with the money that they asked for comprised that 188, and we don't have -- and they're not -- none of them are identified.  Originally they were all identified and all costed.  

     MS. LONG:  So what you're saying is if Mr. Walker gives you the 188 programs and lists them out, that still isn't enough to satisfy you, because you don't know if there were 232 programs; is that -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  That would -- we would like that added, sure.  And I don't know how -- I think it -- these are argument -- this is going to be argument, but it seems to me it puts the Board in an awkward position of being able to assess what's proposed without knowing -- without having -- they call it a true-up -- without having all of the information to provide you with the context.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, we have to be careful that we don't confuse the cost of service request here with the ICM true-up.  I think there's two different functions there, and I think Mr. Walker gave evidence with respect to the issue of a later start and some of the things carrying over in 2014, so as a result you can't do all of the matchings between the ICM projects for that ICM true-up based upon the parameters that was the Board's decisions at that time related to the true-up. 

     But I think, you know, maybe turn it over to Mr. Walker as to what he can provide with respect to the projects that form part of Board Staff IR 39, and any --


and I think what my friend is looking for is some comparative basis between those number of projects and number of completions, and what was expected to be completed as part of the ICM. 

     MS. LONG:  Well, as I understand it, Mr. Crocker, your main argument here is you're trying to get to cost.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  And you don't feel you have the information to be able to do that, to talk about these projects on a go-forward basis.  Is that generally where you are coming from?

MR. CROCKER:  Not cost in isolation, but cost in terms of -– yes, costs in terms of the projects that were done.  

As I say, we know what was spent.  But we don't know on what it was spent.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Walker?  

     MR. WALKER:  I'm wondering if it would be helpful to the Board if we actually walk through Board Staff 39?  Would that be a worthwhile effort?  

I can try to explain what we're providing, and see if that is sufficient. 

     MS. LONG:  Why don't we do that?  

     MR. WALKER:  So if we can call it up – and perhaps it is easiest if we just go to the appendices.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Before you start going through this, Mr. Walker, I was on the ICM Panel, and as I recall it -- I don't have the materials with me, but as I recall there were kind of lists of projects and segments.  

I mean, wouldn't it be possible to kind of go through those and say, you know:  Check, check, check, X not finished or carried forward to 2014, or didn't get started yet?  

     It can't be that complicated, I would have thought.  Or maybe it is?  

     MR. WALKER:  Well, unfortunately, it is very complicated.  Again, as I mentioned, when we develop a project we have to create it in a custom system that we have, because our ERP system doesn't facilitate that master record, if you like. 

     So we create a scope, as we call it, which is really, you know, a high-level view of that job. 

     Eventually, that scope gets translated into a project 

structure, a project and a set of projects and work orders in Ellipse, our ERP.  And Ellipse generates its own numbers, which don't map back to that original number. 

     MS. SPOEL:  If you have something like, you know:  Replace the underground vault that catches on fire at Yonge and St. Clair -- I think there was one of those, with dramatic pictures -- I mean, surely somebody within Toronto Hydro can say:  Yeah, we finished that work.  Or:  No, we didn't.  

     MR. WALKER:  So this is where -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  So you don't actually know whether it's been done?  

     MR. WALKER:  We do, but mapping it back to the original number is where we have difficulty. 

     So in the course of doing design, you take, like, a large underground rebuild project, for example.  They may break it up into phases, and they may name those phases different things. 

     So now for us to figure out which two phases, if you like, represented that original job, we can't search the system in any way to do that. 

     They will nomenclate those jobs at their convenience from an execution perspective.  So they will say, you know, the corner of Yonge and Steeles, or something like that in the description, which isn't how we nomenclated it when we started.

It is a real shortcoming of our ERP, because ERP should facilitate that project from its cradle to its grave, and it just doesn't do that. 

     So we can do it, we have all of the data, but it's a manual effort to go through and map it out, unfortunately.  

     So what we tried to do in Staff 39 is demonstrate where we already had done that effort, and tried to give some perspective on how we're managing the work and some comfort that we are, in fact, on top of this and managing it well.  

     And the way we tried to do that was we looked at it in three different ways.  The first way was looking at it from an ISA in-service spend perspective --

     MR. CROCKER:  If I may just interrupt for two seconds, there are hard copies of this in the compendium, if it's easier to see.  

     MR. WALKER:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. SPOEL:  What page, Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  After -- I don't think we numbered the page -- after page 73.  There are two of them.  

     MS. LONG:  You must have better eyesight than I do, Mr. Crocker.  It is a bit small here. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Mine is bigger.  I'm sorry, I thought you had the same big size that I did. 

     MS. LONG:  Thanks.  

     MR. WALKER:  Okay.  So what this represents is the 

comparison of the proposed in-service amounts by program or by segment, as we called it under ICM, compared to what has actually been done and/or what is forecasted for 2014 to have been done in those same segments. 

     So you can -- I don't know.  You can look at any individual one, if you like.  But overall, when you add all of this up and compare it, the forecasted three-year outcome in ISA is within 5 percent of what we had called for.  

     So this represents the actual jobs that were executed and completed and put in service, compared to the -- on a spend basis, compared to what we asked for.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Excuse me, can I just ask for a clarification?

 I am getting confused about the terms "segment," "jobs," "projects" and "programs."  Everybody seems to be using them interchangeably.  And from my perspective, it is important because the previous decision had segments, jobs and projects and -- 

     So you just said "project" and this says "segment."   So that would help me, certainly, if we could all be on the same page with respect to what you mean by "segment," "project."  

     MR. WALKER:  Sure.  So a "segment" in the ICM filing is analogous to a program in the CIR filing. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  And why did you do that?  

     MR. WALKER:  I think it is the DSP provided the context for how these things would be structured.  So we're following the requirements of the DSP requirements.  

     I know it is a bit complicated, but that is in essence 

what it is. They're of a similar nature. 

     Now, each segment in ICM or each program under CIR has a series of projects, or we sometimes unfortunately refer to them as "jobs," which are more discrete.  They're typically by an individual asset location or by, you know, a logical connection of assets within a particular geographic area, like a subdivision, and they're execution instruments for the work that is in the segments or the programs.

Does that help?  

     A program is really just a container for a bunch of 

Like types of projects that we're carrying out that have the same drivers, that have the same rationale behind them, that are part of a common business case. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  How does that compare to a segment?  

     MR. WALKER:  It's -- the segment is the ICM version of the program.  They're the same thing.  Okay?  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, thank you.  

     MR. WALKER:  So, again, this first table is showing you the projects that were completed and put in service from a spend perspective, and what that spend represented for each segment relative to what we had filed and asked for in ICM, and it gives you a 5 percent variance. 

     So our position is that that shows that we completed largely what we set out to do.  We said we were going to complete a certain amount of our work and put it in service and within 5 percent we were able to do that. 

     MS. LONG:  But this is just a subset of the projects that were part of the ICM?  These are just the ones that are completed?  

     MR. WALKER:  This actually includes the forecast in 2014 as well.  So this is comprehensive of all three years, actuals for 2012 and 2013 and forecasts for 2014.  And the reason we did that -- you may recall in the ICM years we had to ramp up our program in 2012 because when the decision on our cost of service application in 2011 was rejected, we had to let all of the contractors go, so 

to speak, and then we had to rebuild the contractor community. 

     So by the time we got that going, we were late in starting our three-year ICM program. 

So '12 and '13 had less projects completed than we had originally intended, and many of them got pushed into '14.  So that's why we're looking at all three years. 

     But if you look at the programs and projects completed or the segments and projects completed, by the end of all three years we were within 5 percent of what we set out to do.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Can I make two comments with respect to that?  

     MS. LONG:  You may.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Walker's comment that a number -- a bunch of projects were pushed forward to 2014 makes it even more important, I think, for the Board to have the 2014 numbers, and the context that we can provide with respect to those numbers in front of it, before making the Decision here.  

     And I have a question of Mr. Walker, to see whether I understand what he has just said.  If you could turn to page 73 of the compendium, I just have a really simple question.

This is from the ICM project again, from your prefiled material.  And you say -- you describe changes.  You say you reduced the budget from 99 and change million to 87 and change million, and you revised the jobs to 27. 

     And on the basis of the -- of what you just described to the Panel of what's in those tables that you provided, can you tell me whether those 27 jobs were done for the $87.7 million that was spent?  


[Witness panel confers]


MR. WALKER:  In order to get a proper perspective on this you have to look at all three years of the ICM, and that's what we're trying to demonstrate through Board Staff 39, is that in dollars -- both capital spend and in-service amounts -- we've managed all three years as a continuum within 5 percent of what we set out to do. 

     How we demonstrate that we're doing that efficiently or effectively is by looking at that sample set of '12 and '13 jobs, the 188 jobs that were completed and mapped back to what was originally asked for. 

     And we can get to that as we walk through the rest of 39, but I would like to demonstrate how that shows that we are managing our program.  

     So if we can move on to the next appendix, so this gives a similar view to the previous one, except this is now capital spend, total capital spend, not in-service amounts. 

     So this would include projects that are not completed yet or have not been put in service yet.  So it really represents total spend. 

     And again, on a segment-by-segment basis, when you add it all up and look at what we completed in terms of spend to what we intended to do, what we had filed, we're again within 5 percent.

So the first view was stuff that was actually completed.  This view is stuff that was completed plus stuff that is in progress, and it's actuals for '12 and '13 and forecast for '14.  

     So now if we move on to the third appendix, so this now represents the 188 jobs that I mentioned.  So these are jobs that were specifically called for -- sorry, projects that were called for within segments.  You can see that 16 million was called for in 2012 and completed as of this point for an actual cost of 18 million and an in-service amount of 18 million as well. 

     Then in 2013 we have $108 million worth of work that was as it was filed, which we did for 116 million, and the in-service amount was 115 million. 

     So in total, out of 124 that was originally asked for, we completed that work for $132 million, or about an 8 percent variance. 

     So this is our demonstration that for quite a significant sample set of the '12 and '13 program, we were able to manage it within 8 percent, which is considered good in our industry.  

     So from our perspective, I think this gives a strong indication that we are able to complete the work as we put it forward efficiently and effectively. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Can I ask you another question about this, Mr. Walker?  When you say in note 1 here this summary represents 188 jobs filed in approved ICM segments in phase 1, is that the entire phase 1?  Or is 188 jobs part of phase 1?  Or is 188 -- I can't remember.  Was 188 the entirety of it?  Because -- and this is sort of how it is tracked?  

     MR. WALKER:  No.  These are not all of the projects that were filed as part of phase 1.  They're the ones that were completed in '12 and '13. 

     As I mentioned, because of the late start in getting the three-year ICM going, some of those projects moved into '14. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  But it's not -- you said a sample, but it's not -- but the 188 is not a sample.  I thought maybe there were 1,000 jobs and you were demonstrating through a sample of 188 that you'd done well. 

     What you're saying is the 188 were what was completed in 2012 and 2013?  

     MR. WALKER:  Yes, that's right. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Yeah, and I understand that things were -- some things were multi-year projects and so on.  But those were all completed, and the rest of the phase 1 jobs, were they all completed in 2014?  

     MR. WALKER:  They would be -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  Or some of them might still have rolled over to 2015?

     MR. WALKER:  There may have been some that rolled over.  That's part of what we'll look at, at true-up.  But those were the ones that were completed in '12 and '13.  

     MS. LONG:  And are you able to tell us how many were completed in 2014?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. WALKER:  Again, like, we can tell you how many jobs were completed, how many projects were completed.  But it's determining how those jobs relate to what was asked for, and it's complex.  As I mentioned, some of them split into phases and so on. 

     So you couldn't just look at the two sets of numbers and compare them directly.  We have to do that mapping exercise back and figure out these -- let's say these three phases in this job represented this one job that we asked for in the filing.  And then you could see that.

But we could certainly tell you -- give you a list of completed jobs, if that's useful.  

     MS. LONG:  I really don't want to belabour this point anymore.  I mean, I can tell you, Mr. Keizer, that the Panel is very interested in 2014.  Obviously it's Toronto Hydro's application, and the evidence that you choose to put before us is the evidence that you put before us. 

     So my suggestion is that you perhaps take today and tomorrow and think about how it's possible to provide us with some information for 2014 that is not too onerous but does provide us with some information.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  And I think that -- well, one, I think I recognize that 2014 is a bridge year, and so to some extent the audited financials and audited numbers aren't necessarily completed, plus the mapping exercise that Mr. Walker has referred to. 

     I think we will look back at 39 and the forecast number that is there.  There is a forecast number for '14, which is based on up 'til June, I believe.  Is that correct?  Until June of 2014. 

     So I will give some thought tonight and tomorrow as to whether there is any more recent data which will extend it in further to '14, if we can translate that into something meaningful without getting into the whole confluence with -- confusion with respect to the mapping exercise.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Crocker?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, I am not going to be able to finish now today.  I don't know whether you want me to go to 4:30 in any event?  

     MS. LONG:  I do.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  

     MS. LONG:  How long do you think you will be?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, maybe I can give you a better estimate at 4:30.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I want to take the panel to page 84 of our material, and go back to something I mentioned earlier and try to understand how Toronto Hydro determined that 26 percent of its assets were at end of useful life, or will be by the end of 2015.  

     If you go to the next page, you have kind of depicted, I think, the process that you have used in order to come to the 26 percent.  

     But what I don't understand is the relative importance of all of the inputs and how you use them, how you use them 

Interchangeably, and once again how, if at all, the process has differed over time since 2009, which was sort of the year that I started the discussion earlier on when I raised it initially.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  Overall, the approach or the process really hasn't changed in principle since 2009.  

     We did mention that we've made refinements to our tools and our techniques within this process, but the basic process is the same.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Are you suggesting to me that the feeder 

investment model has not played any more important a role now than it did in 2009?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. WALKER:  As we mentioned earlier, we've applied the FIM technique to more asset classes in subsequent years. 

     So its use has broadened, if you like, but its importance hasn't changed.  It is still one of the critical tools that we use to validate the decisions that we're making through our various planning processes and techniques.  

     MR. CROCKER:  If you could go to page 96 of our compendium, then, this is a response to an undertaking from the technical conference.  

     Explain to me the role of the feeder investment model in determining economic end-of-life -- and I'm not sure what you mean by that, but you can explain what you mean.  Explain to me the role of the feeder investment model.  

     MR. OTAL:  So in general the economic end-of-life results that are presented here in Undertaking J1.7, they represent an output from the feeder investment model. 

     We also refer to this as the optimal intervention timing result that's coming out of the feeder investment model, and basically that result is going to be calculated for each of the assets we're evaluating.  It's going to be a different result for these assets, depending on their individual probabilities and impacts of failure, and that's why there is a range of results that have been presented here in terms of a minimum, a mid and maximum range. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How does it then affect your decision making?  What do you do with what comes out of the 

feeder investment model?  

     Do you test the information in some other way?  Do you 

accept it?  Do you -- what do you do with it?  

     MR. OTAL:  So if I can refer you to Exhibit 2B, section D3, on page 1, and I guess starting at line 12, we talk about where the feeder investment model is applied within our EM planning process, and it is applied in different parts of that process. 

     So we apply it as part of our long-term system review 

process -- and I am speaking from line 13 here -- to determine our asset renewal investment timing, based on the economic end-of-life criteria for each of our assets. 

     And then if I go into line 20, when we're actually 

developing -- and this is part of our long-term planning -- our capital investment programs and we're prioritizing assets within those programs depending on the drivers. 

     So if we have a capital investment program that is driven by failure of risk, for instance, the feeder investment model -- along with other inputs like age, asset condition assessment, historical reliability -- would be used to allow us to prioritize assets for that given capital investment program worth being driven by, say, failure risk, for instance. 

     And then finally, if I go to the very bottom of that same page 1 on line 27, then we're talking about short-term planning.  

     So once we've, you know, developed that capital investment program, we're going to start developing projects within short-term planning.  We re-identify those prioritized assets and again using an assortment of decision support systems -- including the feeder investment model, including age, including asset condition assessment -- we are discretely selecting those assets for inclusion within a capital project.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Well, let me see if I can understand what you've just said.  

     Economic end-of-life is one of the -- is economic 

end-of-life the driver which determines the -- what's in the 26 percent useful end-of-life piece of a pie chart?  

     MR. OTAL:  No.  The pie chart is based upon useful life, not economic end-of-life.  

     MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Well, tell me how economic end-of-life and useful life then fit together.  

     MR. OTAL:  So if I can take you back to Undertaking J1.7, and if I go to page 5 of 7, starting with -- we basically define each of these metrics.

So we define useful life, and it is starting on line 7, at the end of line 7, and continuing into line 8, we indicate that many of the hazard rate distribution functions used to determine the age-based failure probability within the FIM for a given asset have been calibrated using these useful life values, so the useful life is an input that we would use within the feeder investment model, along with many other inputs, of course, to determine that economic end-of-life result.


And so that shows, you know, the relationship basically, between the useful life and how it is used as an input within the feeder investment model.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I am a really simple guy, and that wasn't a very simple answer, and so you tell me if I'm wrong.  If -- the 26 percent of the pie chart is the percent of your asset base which is at the end of its useful life.  Right?  

     MR. OTAL:  That is correct.  At the end of its useful life.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Right.  What percentage of that group of assets is also at the end of its economic life?  Can you tell me that?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. OTAL:  We wouldn't have that information, because of the fact that when we perform our feeder investment model analysis, it's not performed on all of our asset classes, unlike the useful life value.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let me ask it another way, then.  What percent -- how -- what percentage of significance, if I can put it that way, of the information which goes into that 26 -- of determining that 26 percent end of useful life is given to you by the feeder investment model?  

     MR. OTAL:  I mean, perhaps a better way to respond to that question is that the 26 percent is representing another view of the information of our assets.  It's useful life.  It is an independent metric from the economic end-of-life, and I did explain how we can use it as an input within our feeder investment model, but the two metrics are independent.

And just kind of going back to some of my earlier responses, we use an assortment of data, an assortment of systems, to make decisions on our system, to make decisions on our assets. 

     So the useful life metric represents one view of information that we can use to make decisions on our asset base, and in this case to look at our asset base, and we can see how many of those assets are past their useful life. 

     MR. PARADIS:  Maybe if I can, just to try to simplify the discussion, the difference is that the economic end-of-life accounts for the specific location and operating conditions of the asset, where we do a quantification of the risk of failure, but also the impact of that failure, were it to occur. 

     The useful life is a population view of how long we expect assets to last in the system.  And based on that assessment, we have identified 26 percent of our assets currently being beyond what we would have expected them to last when they were first installed.  

     MR. CROCKER:  And I ask you again, then:  Does the feeder investment model give you, with the inputs that you provided, give you that 26 percent?  

     MR. OTAL:  No, it does not. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How important is it in terms of determining the 26 percent?  

     MR. PARADIS:  It's not.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Not important?  

     MR. PARADIS:  Specifically in determining the 26 percent?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Not important?  

     MR. PARADIS:  The 26 percent is not based on any outcome of the feeder investment model.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I don't think that coincides with other things you have said in your written material, but okay.  We will work with that in final argument. 

     Could you go to page 100, please?  This is a table provided -- put together by AMPCO from the information in Exhibit 2B, section D2, appendix A.  

     Okay?  As I understand your historical approach to things, if you assume that what we have -- what Ms. Grice has done is to take information that is scattered around in various different tables and put it into one, and then summarized it in the last two columns. 

     So if you accept, for instance, that you have 40 station transformers in very poor and poor condition, historically I think what you would have done is to replace -- want to replace those in two or three years -- in two to three years; correct?  Am I right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  The condition of those station power transformers would have been factored into the work program, yes.  And also considered would be the resources available to it and the lead time in planning it.  

     MR. CROCKER:  But as I understand and understood the -- your planning process historically, you would have wanted to replace those within two or three years of determining that they were in very poor and poor condition.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Maybe Mr. Crocker can point to -- 

     MR. CROCKER:  All of this is in that big chunk of historical stuff that I left out, that I jumped over, but that, I understand -- I recall was in the Kinectrics recommendation, the Kinectrics report.  

     MR. KEIZER:  Can you help the witness and point to where?  It is a big report.  So where you may have seen it?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, let me just see what answer I get to the question.  The question was:  After the Kinectrics report, my understanding is that once -- of those 40 station power transformers, you would have wanted to replace the 40 in poor or very poor condition within two or three years of that determination, determining their condition.  

     I will let you know what the next question is so that you understand why I'm asking.  Is it still -- is that still your approach?  And has that been changed at all by your use -- additional use, as Mr. Walker has described, of the feeder investment model?  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Simpson, can you answer that question, or do you need the reference from the Kinectrics report?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I will give it my best effort.  I may need the reference later, if you can find it.

In the case of the station power transformers, we're already well past the expected life for these assets, and the FIM results are used more to help validate and prioritize which ones we go after first.  And the factors that will go into that are the impact of outages for that specific area, the condition of those specific assets; the transformers, in this case. 

     So in other words, the FIM confirms and helps prioritize which assets we go after first, and because of the backlog and the age of these assets it would be great to do them all, but from a practical standpoint we probably lack the resources, the ability to get outages, a number of other factors which would keep us from doing it all overnight.  

     MR. CROCKER:  The Kinectrics reference is on page 17 of the -- so let me understand. 

     So you didn't always get to replace the -- and I used 

station power transformer only because it was the first one on the list, and as an example, rather than for any other reason.  

     So are you saying to me that your objective was to 

replace assets in very poor and poor condition within two to three years, but you didn't always do that?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. KEIZER:  Sir, I am confused by the -- are we on the right page that you referred to in the Kinectrics report on the screen here?  

     MR. CROCKER:  The last paragraph:

"It is recommended that the assets in very poor condition be planned for replacement in two to three years, and assets in fair condition planned for replacement in four to ten years."

Which is going to be my next question. 

     MR. KEIZER:  This is something filed in 2007.  So it is not the Kinectrics report filed in this proceeding.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Was there a Kinectrics report?  Yes, I'm sorry.  I haven't read all of the material in this proceeding and I didn't realize –- yes, it was that Kinectrics report.  

     MR. KEIZER:  But this page you are putting forward here is from 2007. 

     MR. CROCKER:  I meant the old one, not the new one.  I am referring to the old one. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Filed in the 2007 proceeding?  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes, and I am asking whether you are still doing that, and if you are not still doing that, whether your use of the feeder investment model has changed your approach to doing that.  

     MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Simpson, have you read this report from 2007?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I will have to refresh myself on that.  

     MS. SPOEL:  I'm sorry, Mr. Crocker.  When you asked Mr. Simpson the question originally, you said the assets in very poor and poor condition, and said there were 40 of them, using the station power transformer as an example. 

     But now that you have pulled this up, it doesn't even refer to poor; it only refers to very poor. 

     So I wonder if you might want to restate that question to Mr. Simpson, because there only seem to be three of those assets in very poor condition, as opposed to the 37 that are in poor condition.  

I don't know if anything turns on it, but I think you 

have mischaracterized the recommendations in the Kinectrics report from 2007, which probably just adds to the confusion. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I will do it that way.  Let's just deal specifically with what the Kinectrics report said.  

     Ms. Spoel is right.  It says very poor condition, replace between two and three years. 

     And just in the example that I used, the station power transformers, there are three of them there.  

     And so my question stays the same.  Is your objective to replace that asset -- any of your assets in very poor condition within two to three years of determining that 

condition?  

If not, if that is still not the case, has your use of the feeder investment model in determining asset condition, is it a factor in changing your approach?  

     And I will ask the same question with respect to what's --

     MS. LONG:  Let's just do one question at a time, Mr. 

Crocker. 

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I believe the 2007 reference is a useful 

guideline as far as, you know, without constraints, if you could replace everything in those conditions, you know, good guideline. 

     When we're looking again at station power transformers 

which are well past end-of-life into the 60-year mark, we are using FIM to further prioritize where it makes sense to replace them first, and where the system impact and the outages for customers are most troublesome.  And so FIM is used with the other factors available to prioritize the work. 

     And we are unable at the present time -- because of 

resources and other outage constraints -- to change out 

everything we would like to according to guideline.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you tell me, then, the condition of the assets you are proposing to replace in 2015 and going forward, on your rating scale of very poor, poor and fair?


Just to qualify my question, how many of them are very poor, how many of them are poor, and how many of them are fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  We should probably respond to that with an undertaking for accuracy.  I believe most of the material is in our section E-6-14 exhibit, but the factors for the 2015 program are largely aging condition.  But also considered are the trends in that aging condition report. 

     For example, if we're seeing a hockey stick where things are deteriorating at a more rapid rate, that will probably focus our efforts. 

     Other factors considered in that work program are, you know, avoid areas where there is a 4-kV conversion where we would no longer need those assets. 

     So where it makes sense, we are prioritizing those 

replacements and it is fine-tuned with the FIM output that helps us prioritize the work.  

And so I need to take an undertaking on that. 

     MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO INDICATE WHERE IN THE EVIDENCE ASSET CONDITION INFORMATION MAY BE FOUND.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps, Mr. Crocker, if you can just articulate exactly what it is that you are seeking in this undertaking, because I was getting a little confused.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  What I'm asking is whether THESL could indicate the quantity of assets that they propose to replace.  I said 2015, and then I followed it up by saying for the 2015 to 2019 period -- so I think it should be for the whole period -- that are in very poor condition, that are in poor condition, and that are in fair condition.  

MR. KEIZER:  You mean all of the assets?  Or just the station transformer assets you were talking about?  

     MR. CROCKER:  No, no, no, I used station transformer as an example.  All of the assets, the condition of all of the assets they propose to replace.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Respectfully, it's a considerable effort for the whole asset base.  I think we can help you with the power station transformer program area.  And we would have to give more consideration to what seems to be an expansion of your question.  

     MR. CROCKER:  I didn't mean to suggest I was only referring to the station power transformers.  I will tell you the reason I am asking, we're asking.  We would like to be able to comment to the Board on whether you are proposing -- whether your asset replacement program is appropriate in terms of the conditions of the assets, or whether you are proposing to replace things that aren't necessary to be replaced.  That's all.  

     MR. KEIZER:  I think the issue is you'd have to look at every individual small project and look at what assets you think you are going to do, and I think the way I understand it -- and the witnesses can correct me if I'm wrong, but that in 2015 we've looked at it on a project basis.  2016 to '19 is more of a forecast and a trend. 

     And I think you would have to look at every individual project, every individual asset that you would be replacing in a project, and some of those which are combined in a variety of ways, because one piece of equipment may be part of another piece of equipment, and you'd have to detangle that.

It would be an incredible amount of work to be able to break it down to the degree that my friend is looking for.  

     MR. CROCKER:  Well, I thought that would already have been done, in terms of making the proposal that is part of this application. 

     MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think he's being unfair with respect to the amount of effort and difficulty that has to be done, but maybe Mr. Walker can comment. 

     MR. WALKER:  I think there is a bit of a misunderstanding around what these condition assessments represent.  Where we have a particular condition that we can measure on a given asset, we try to determine whether it is in poor or fair or et cetera condition.  That is not comprehensive of all the conditions that can happen on an asset. 

     As an example, plastic-insulated cable is prone to something call water treeing, and we can't detect that in any practical way across our system, but we know that as the asset ages those water trees become more and more prevalent until the insulation on the cable fails. 

     So it's not -- you can't characterize our entire asset base based on the situations where we have condition data.  We only have it rated for certain conditions on certain assets.  And we know that age is a very good indication of the long-term viability of our assets, and we use that in many cases for our assets.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Crocker, I agree.  I think your undertaking is overly broad, but perhaps Mr. Walker and Mr. Simpson can take a look at the evidence and see where, contained within it already, is information with respect to asset condition and could pass that information on to Mr. Crocker before next week, when he will recommence his cross-examination, because we are going to adjourn for the rest of the day -- or adjourn, rather, until Thursday, when we will have a different panel before us.  

     So we thank you for your evidence today.  We will see you when this panel is back on, and we will see everybody else Thursday morning at 9:30.  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m. 
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